
A meeting of the Wolverhampton Clinical Commissioning Group Governing Body

will take place on Tuesday 26th March 2019 commencing at 1.00 pm

at Stephenson Room - Wolverhampton Science Park

A G E N D A

1  Apologies for absence

2  Declarations of Interest

3  Minutes of the meeting of the Wolverhampton 
Clinical Commissioning Group Governing Body 
held on 12 February 2019

1 - 10

4  Matters arising from the minutes

5  Committee Action Points 11 - 12

Item for Decision

6  Budgets sign off Mr T Gallagher 13 - 24

Item for Assurance

7  Wolverhampton Clinical Commissioning Group 
Operating Plan sign off

Mr M Hastings 25 - 96

8  Any Other Business

9  Members of the Public/Press to address any 
questions to the Governing Body

Date and time of next meeting ~
Tuesday 9 April 2019 ~ Governing Body Board 
Meeting 



This page is intentionally left blank



Page 1 of 9

WOLVERHAMPTON CLINICAL COMMISSIONING GROUP GOVERNING BODY

Minutes of the Governing Body Meeting held on Tuesday 12 February 2019
Commencing at 1.00 pm at Wolverhampton Science Park, Stephenson Room

Attendees ~

Dr S Reehana

Clinical 

Chair

Dr Asghar Board Member
Dr D Bush Board Member
Dr M Kainth Board Member
Dr J Parkes Board Member

Dr R Rajcholan Board Member

Management 
Mr T Gallagher Chief Finance Officer – Walsall/Wolverhampton
Mr M Hastings Director of Operations
Dr H Hibbs Chief Officer
Mr S Marshall Director of Strategy and Transformation
Ms S Roberts Chief Nurse Director of Quality

Lay Members/Consultant 
Mr J Oatridge Lay Member
Mr P Price Lay Member
Ms H Ryan Lay Member
Mr L Trigg Lay Member

In Attendance
Ms H Cook Engagement, Communications and Engagement Manager
Ms K Garbutt Administrative Officer
Ms S Gill Healthwatch
Mr P McKenzie Corporate Operations Manager
Mr H Patel Head of Medicines Optimisation (part)

Apologies for absence

Apologies were received from Mr J Denley, Dr R Gulati

Page 1

Agenda Item 3



Page 2 of 9

Declarations of Interest

WCCG.2268  There were no declarations of interest declared.

  RESOLVED: That the above is noted.

Minutes of the meeting of the Wolverhampton Clinical Commissioning Group Governing 

WCCG.2269 RESOLVED:

           That the minutes of the Wolverhampton Clinical Commissioning Group 
(WCCG) Governing Body meeting held on the 13 November 2018 be 
approved as a correct record.

Matters arising from the Minutes

WCCG.2270 There were no matters arising.

RESOLVED: That the above is noted.
  

Committee Action Points

WCCG.2271 There were no Committee Action Points.

RESOLVED: That the above is noted.

Chief Officer Report

WCCG.2272 Dr Hibbs presented the report.   She highlighted the work on Extended 
Access in Wolverhampton.  There have been a number of exciting 
developments and improvements in the provision of access to Primary 
Care appointments.  The four groups of GPs in Wolverhampton made up 
of different GP practices working together have delivered key 
improvements for patients and these have been positively recognised by 
NHS England following an assurance visit.   Currently over 2700 additional 
primary care appointments are available each month across 
Wolverhampton.  Over the Christmas period all four hubs offered 
appointments on Christmas day, Boxing Day and New Year’s Day.

She pointed out work with the Black Country Sustainability and 
Transformation Plan (STP) continues.   The NHS Long Term Plan has 
made it clear that all STP areas are expected to evolve to become 
Integrated Care Systems by 2021.

Dr Hibbs stated that a re-inspection of Wolverhampton Urgent Care 
Centre (Vocare) undertaken on the 8 November 2018 has resulted in the 

Page 2



Page 3 of 9

service being rated as “good” overall by the Care Quality Commissioning 
(CQC).  Which is excellent news.

Dr Hibbs referred to the expansion of Medicines Reviews in Care Homes 
Service.   NHS England have provided funding for an 18 month 
programme across the STP.  Wolverhampton already has an excellent 
care homes review service run by clinical pharmacists in conjunction with 
elderly care consultant across the city.which we can build on.  Ms G Gill 
asked how we are communicating the outcome to patients.   Dr Hibbs 
confirmed this has been communicated via the Express and Star. 

RESOLVED: That the above is noted.                   

               Dr Asghar arrived
                        

Board Assurance Framework

WCCG.2273 Mr P McKenzie referred to the report which outlines the current work 
underway to support risk management across the CCG, including the work 
of the Governing Body Committees.  

   Mr H Patel arrived

As reported at the last meeting, in line with the agreed recommendations 
from the Internal Audit review of Risk Management, a programme of 
regular deep dives into areas of risk has commenced.    The outcome of 
the first Deep Dive into the Governing Body Assurance Framework 
(GBAF) Domain 32 – Continuing to Meet Our Statutory Duties and 
Responsibilities was reported to the Audit and Governance Committee in 
November 2018.

Mr McKenzie highlighted the following risk outlined in Appendix 2 
Corporate Level Risks ~

 CR05 Emergency Preparedness, Resilience and Response (EPRR) 
– continued to meet statutory duties and responsibilities 
(Emergency Planning).

 CR08 New ways of working across the STP – the current rating had 
reduced from 8 to 6.

 CR13 Maternity Capacity and Demand – the current rating had 
reduced to 4 which is quite low.  Mr McKenzie asked if this should 
remain on the corporate register.  Ms S Roberts suggested this 
remains on this register due to external influence and the 
Governing Body will be kept updated.

Page 3



Page 4 of 9

Mr P Price commented that it is encouraging looking at the detail 
contained within the register and the way it is being used as a live working 
document. 

Dr S Reehana asked if CR10 Better Care Fund Programme Success risk  
should remain the same.  Mr S Marshall confirmed this still continues to be 
a financial risk therefore remains permanent.

RESOLVED: That the above is noted

A consultation on items which should not routinely be prescribed in primary care: an 
update and a consultation on further guidance for CCGs

WCCG.2274 Mr H Patel gave an overview of the report.   NHS England have begun a 
further consultation exercise on developing guidance for CCGs on items 
that should not be routinely prescribing in Primary Care. The guidance 
aims to reduce unwarranted variation by providing clear guidance to CCGs 
on items that should not be prescribed to ensure that best value is 
obtained from prescribing budgets.

Ms Gill seeked clarity regarding the answer to the question which appears 
twice - “Do you feel there is evidence we should consider in our proposals 
on the potential impact on health inequalities experience by certain groups 
e.g. people on low incomes; people from black and minority ethnic (BME) 
communities.”   The first answer states Yes and the second answer No.   
Mr Hemant confirmed they should both read Yes and the necessary 
correction will be made.

RESOLVED That the Governing Body agreed the draft response to be 
submitted on behalf of the CCG.

                    Mr H Patel left

Better Care Fund update

WCCG.2275 Mr S Marshall gave an overview of the report which is to inform the 
Governing Body on the work being undertaken within the Better Care 
Fund Programme.   

He highlighted the national metrics relating to the Delayed Transfers of 
Care.   The latest daily delays rate per 100,000 population aged 18 and 
over for Wolverhampton residents when calculated over the eight months 
of the year to date is 6.8 against an NHS England ambition of 7.4 and so 
remains below target.   

Page 4



Page 5 of 9

Mr Marshall referred to the co-location of the North East Community 
Neighbourhood team to Wolverhampton Science Park.   The core team 
consists of Community Matrons, District Nurses and the Social Care team 
for the North locality.  In addition there are hot desks to allow additional 
staff such as Mental Health, Social Prescribing and Housing colleagues to 
work with the team.

Ms McKie stated that the scenarios contained within the report are very 
useful examples.

RESOLVED: That the above is noted

Preparation for a No Deal Brexit

WCCG.2276 Mr M Hastings presented the report.  He highlighted an Operational 
Response Centre has been established by NHS England to support the 
health and care system to respond to any disruption and will not bypass 
existing local and regional reporting structures.  We have obligations to 
engage with local providers to seek assurance based around the guidance 
in key areas including:

 Workforce
 Medicines and Vaccines
 Medical Devices
 Goods and Services
 Data Protection
 Reciprocal Health
 Clinical Trials and Investment

Mr Hastings confirmed he has been appointed as the organisations EU 
Exit Senior Responsible Officer.  He will be attending an event relating to 
the EU Exit on Friday, 15 February 2019 in Leicester.   He pointed out the 
EU Exit Operational Readiness Guidance – actions the health and care 
system in England should take to prepare for a ‘no deal’ scenario.   Mr 
Hastings added we are working with partners and there is a lead in each 
of the organisations.   The team at the local authority has recently 
recruited two additional members of staff and we will be working with them 
to strengthen the Emergency Preparedness, Resilience and Response 
(EPRR) plan.

Dr Reehana asked what the impact on the workforce would be.   Without 
permanent residence in the country people will have 2 to 3 years to apply 
Settled status which is a national process.

RESOLVED:  That the above is noted

Page 5



Page 6 of 9

Black Country Joint Commissioning Committee

WCCG.2277 Dr Hibbs stated the report was for information.  Ms Gill asked if the 
meeting took place on the 10 January 2019.   Dr Hibbs confirmed this took 
place and this will be reported on at the next Governing Body meeting

RESOLVED:  That the above is noted

Commissioning Committee

WCCG.2278 Dr Kainth presented the report.   He highlighted Diagnostic Pathway for 
Autistic Spectrum.   The Committee was presented with a report of an all 
age strategy developed by Wolverhampton CCG working collaterally with 
the City Council towards a clear pathway across the system.  

He also referred to Glaucoma Referral Refinement Service.   The report 
received is to ensure safety and performance continuation with a change 
to the pathway for a small number of patients with suspected glaucoma.

Dr Kainth pointed out the Committee have been presented with a 
Medicines Optimisation strategy to deliver corporate objectives across the 
Clinical Commissioning Group (CCG) and STP.

RESOLVED: That the above is noted.

Quality and Safety Committee

WCCG.2279 Ms S Roberts presented the report.  She highlighted the key points.  
Cancer performance remains challenged.   Extensive work is still ongoing 
and weekly calls are taking place.  The Medical Director for NHS 
Improvement visited The Royal Wolverhampton Hospital Trust (RWT) and 
walked through pathways and sought assurance from the clinical teams.   
We are currently awaiting formal feedback but informally feedback 
supports the actions underway across the system.  There is now a 
dedicated theatre for RALPH which is operational.  

Mortality indicators remain concerning and requiring further understanding 
and assurance.    RWT has a high percentage of in hospital deaths for the 
local health economy compared nationally.    Work is taking place 
regarding coding and recruitment is taking place for key roles.

Dr Reehana stated she was very pleased that we are doing all we can 
regarding cancer and mortality targets.

Page 6



Page 7 of 9

A Quality and Safety Committee meeting took place today and Ms Roberts 
reported that Never events are improving and there is also improvement 
around Vocare.

Ms Roberts suggested the mortality plan, which has been to NHS 
England, should be discussed at a Governing Body Development session.

RESOLVED: That the mortality plan is discussed at a Governing Body 
Development Session.

Finance and Performance Committee

WCCG.2280 Mr T Gallagher gave an overview of the report.   He pointed out the 
financial performance indicators on page 3 of the report.    The CCG’s 
control total is £9.986m which takes account of the 2017/18 year end 
performance.    The CCG are achieving its Quality, Innovation, Productivity 
and Prevention (QIPP) target of £13.948m.  He pointed out the table on 
page 4 of the report which highlights year to date performance.

The CCG submitted a month 9 position which included 0.6m risk which 
has been fully mitigated.  This is a reduction from the previous month as at 
this stage of the financial year forecast outturn expenditure levels become 
more certain.  The key risks are indicated on page 22.

Mr Gallagher referred to tables on pages 14 and 15 which are summaries 
of the performance.  He pointed out the referral to treatment time (18 
weeks).   November performance has been affected by a continued 
increase in referrals for Gastroscopy and now include Colonoscopy and 
Flexi Sigmoidoscopy all of these are having an adverse effect on the 
routine waiting time, this is directly linked with increased referrals from 
cancer.  RWT is continuing to focus on the National requirement to sustain 
or reduce referral to treatment time waiting list size against the March 
2018 baseline and is currently on track to achieve this with November list 
size.  Zero 52 week waiters have been reported by RWT however there is 
one Wolverhampton CCG Trauma and Orthopedic patient who remains 
waiting over 52 weeks.  Mr Hastings stated that this is very complex and 
there is no date yet.

Mr Hastings reported that cancer referrals are very high and work is being 
carried out to understand why.  Dr Hibbs stated there is no evidence of 
inappropriate referrals and is a very complex problem.

RESOLVED: That the above is noted.

Page 7



Page 8 of 9

Audit and Governance Committee

WCCG.2281 Mr P Price presented the report.   He pointed out the internal audit of 
Quality and Safety was received by the Committee in a positive way.   This 
was a credit to Ms Roberts and her team who have appropriate systems in 
place.

RESOLVED: That the above is noted

Primary Care Commissioning

WCCG.2282 Ms S McKie gave an overview of the report.    She highlighted that the 
Docman Document Management System used in GP practices is being 
monitored.   There has been an issue around a large number of 
documents being sent to practices by providers but not being processed 
by the system.   The CCG had worked with individual practices to collate 
the information and embed a plan to ensure they are reviewed.  It was 
noted that the majority of outstanding documents had now been reviewed; 
the vast majority being duplicate copies of documents already in the 
system and to date no significant impact to patient care had been 
identified.

RESOLVED: That the above is noted

Communication and Engagement update

WCCG.2283 Ms McKie presented the report.  She referred to the Patient Access App.  
Promotion of the Patient Access App is starting on a variety of media and 
sites.  

She pointed out that attendance at the Patient Participation 
Group/Citizens Forum meeting is not very well attended.   It seems the 
same attendees attend this meeting and the Hub meetings.  Mr Hastings 
added we are trying to encourage more to attend these meetings talking to 
The Royal Wolverhampton Trust and Healthwatch.

RESOLVED: That the above is noted

Minutes of the Quality and Safety Committee

WCCG.2284 RESOLVED: That the above minutes are noted.

Minutes of the Finance and Performance Committee

WCCG.2285 RESOLVED: That the above minutes are noted

Page 8



Page 9 of 9

Minutes of the Primary Care Commissioning Committee

WCCG.2286 RESOLVED: That the above minutes are noted

Minutes of the Commissioning Committee

WCCG.2287 RESOLVED: That the above minutes are noted

Minutes of the Audit and Governance Committee

WCCG.2288 RESOLVED: That the above minutes are noted

Black Country and West Birmingham Joint Commissioning Committee Minutes

WCCG.2289 RESOLVED: That the above minutes are noted

Minutes of the Health and Wellbeing Board

WCCG.2290 RESOLVED: That the above minutes are noted

Any Other Business

WCCG.2291 RESOLVED: That the above is noted.

Members of the Public/Press to address any questions to the Governing Board

WCCG.2292 There were no questions. 

RESOLVED: That the above is noted.
    
Date of Next Meeting

WCCG.2293 The Board noted that the next meeting was due to be held on Tuesday 9 
April 2019 to commence at 1.00 pm and be held at Wolverhampton 
Science Park, Stephenson Room.

The meeting closed at 2.30 pm

Chair..……………………………………..

Date ………………………………………

Page 9



This page is intentionally left blank



Page 1 of 1

Wolverhampton Clinical Commissioning Group Governing Body

Action List 

26 March 2019

Date of 
meeting

Minute 
Number

Action By When By Whom Status

12.2.19
WCCG.2279 Quality and Safety – The mortality plan is 

discussed at a Governing Body 
Development Session

March/April Sally 
Roberts

P
age 11

A
genda Item

 5



T
his page is intentionally left blank



Governing Body Meeting – 26 March 2019 Page 1 of 12

WOLVERHAMPTON CLINICAL COMMISSIONING GROUP

Governing Body Meeting – Tuesday 26 March 2019
Agenda item 6

Title of Report: CCG Finance Plan and Budget for 2019/20

Report of: Tony Gallagher, Chief Finance Officer

Contact: Lesley Sawrey, Deputy Chief Finance Officer

Finance and Performance 
Committee Action Required:

☒     Decision

☒     Assurance

Purpose of Report:  To present to the F&P Committee the draft 
financial plan for 2019/20, noting adherence 
to the planning rules 

 To highlight the risks contained within the 
financial position.

Recommendations:  To receive and discuss the report 
 To note the level of financial risk associated 

with the proposed 2019/20 budgets.
 To recommend to the Governing Body that it 

should note the financial plan as presented, 
including the risk and challenges detailed.

 To make a recommendation for Budget sign 
off to the March Governing Body meeting.

Public or Private: This Report is intended for the public domain 

Relevance to CCG Priority: Strong Financial Management and sound planning 
and performance

Relevance to Board 
Assurance Framework (BAF):

Supporting and delivery of the strategic direction of 
the CCG

 Domain 1: A Well Led 
Organisation

 – impacting on whether the CCG:
• has strong and robust leadership;

Page 13

Agenda Item 6



Governing Body Meeting – 26 March 2019 Page 2 of 12

• has robust governance arrangements;
• secures the best value for money; and has 
effective systems in place to ensure compliance with 
its statutory functions.

 Domain2: Performance – 
delivery of commitments and 
improved outcomes

A key focus of assurance will be how well the CCG 
delivers improved services, maintain and improve 
quality, and ensures better outcomes for patients.  
This includes progress in delivering key Mandate 
requirements and NHS Constitution standards.
The financial plan is set with consideration for the 
delivery of NHS targets (both constitutional and 
otherwise) and with a view to supporting the CCG’s 
work to improve outcomes for its population

 Domain 3: Financial 
Management

A robust financial model is essential to the CCG’s 
success. This paper sets out the resources available 
to the CCG for 2019/20; detailing the financial risks 
and challenges that the organisation faces. Financial 
management capability and performance, including 
an assessment of data

Page 14



Governing Body Meeting – 26 March 2019 Page 3 of 12

1. Purpose of the paper
The purpose of the paper is:
 To present to the F&P Committee the draft financial plan for 2019/20, noting 

adherence to the revised 19/20 planning rules
 To highlight the risks contained within the financial position.

2. Context and Overview

2.1 Health and Social Care Economy Overview
 There continues to be significant financial challenges within the Health economy 

particularly as the main Acute provider and Mental Health provider continue to be 
financially challenged 

 The Local Authority remains under significant financial pressure following the 
announcement of significant savings targets over the next 5 years being £123m 
over 2015/16 -2019/20. 

 The Sustainability and Transformation Plan (STP) has worked to “size the total 
gap” for the Black Country and give a better view of the economy-wide issues that 
will need to be addressed over the planning period. WCCG is playing an active 
part in the development of these plans.

 In February 2019 CCGs were required this year to submit a plan for 1 year, 
2019/20.  

2.2 NHS Funding settlement
In early January 2019 NHSE issued CCGs with their allocations for 5years from 
2019/20. Allocations were designated as confirmed for 2019-22 and indicative 
thereafter as detailed below:

£'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000
Allocations 18/19 19/20 20/21 21/22 22/23 23/24

Core CCG 360,146 382,540 400,035 417,446 434,477 450,910
Delegated PC 36,552 39,275 41,204 43,576 45,484 47,448
Programme total 396,698 421,815 441,239 461,022 479,961 498,358
RC 5515 5,516 4,865 4,865 4,865 4,865
CCG Total 402,213 427,331 446,104 465,887 484,826 503,223

Core % 6.22% 4.57% 4.35% 4.08% 3.78%
Delegated % 7.45% 4.91% 5.76% 4.38% 4.32%
overall  Programme% 6.33% 4.60% 4.48% 4.11% 3.83%
RC % 0.02% -11.80% 0.00% 0.00% 0.00%

Within the notified allocations for 19/20 there is targeted allocation for Ambulance 
services of £366k. As a consequence the percentage growth remaining for non- 
targeted services is c 5%. 

Page 15



Governing Body Meeting – 26 March 2019 Page 4 of 12

Planning assumptions for 2018/19 Budgets

3.1 The revised planning guidance confirms the following key elements and 
requirements for CCG plans:

 Tariff inflation 3.8% 
 Tariff efficiency (1.1)%
 Application of Ambulance specific allocation of £366k
 Application of £352k specific allocation for Peri Natal Mental Health services
 Minimum cumulative historic underspend  to be 1%
 Local contingency to be a minimum 0.5%
 Minimum in-year position is break even prior to agreement of drawdown of historic 

underspend
 Admin costs to remain within allocation
 MHIS (Mental Health Investment Standard) to be delivered including the additional 

0.7% growth
 Better Care Fund minimum contribution must be complied with
 Drawdown only with permission of NHSE

Removal of the requirement for any portion of the allocation to be spent non 
recurrently. Although there is no requirement for the CCG to spend recurrent 
resource non recurrently (previously 1% reserve) although NHSE have advised the 
CCG should maintain 1% underlying surplus.

In addition to the above requirements there have been considerable changes to the 
National tariff such as:

 Revision to Market Forces Factor (MFF), to be phased over 3 years
 Greater granularity in coding for Maternity and deliveries
 Incorporation of MRET (Marginal Rate Emergency Threshold) and Readmissions into 

tariff
 Incorporation of 1.25% of CQUIN into tariff, leaving 1.25% for  schemes to be 

specified
 A new blended payment for Emergency care

For planning purposes the CCG’s LTFM (Long Term Financial Model) has applied 
the overall growth in line with the Business Rules and growth, inflation and efficiency 
assumptions as identified in the tables on the following page.

Page 16



Governing Body Meeting – 26 March 2019 Page 5 of 12

Demographic Changes (%) 0.58% Demographic Changes (%) 0.58%
Demographic Changes (population) 260.3 Demographic Changes (population) 260.3

19/20 19/20
Prescribing 0.58% Prescribing 3.80%
Prescribing Other Prescribing Other
Reserves Reserves
Mental Health 0.58% Mental Health 4.02%
Mental Health Income Mental Health Income
Non NHS MH 0.58% Non NHS MH 1.50%
LD 0.58% LD 1.50%
Community Contracts 0.58% Community Contracts 2.00%
Community Other 0.58% Community Other 3.00%
Continuing Care spend 0.58% Continuing Care spend 7.60%
Secondary or Tertiary acute care 0.58% Secondary or Tertiary acute care 2.00%
RWHT 0.58% RWHT 2.00%
West Midlands Ambulance 0.58% West Midlands Ambulance 3.50%
ETO Reserve ETO Reserve
Running Costs Running Costs 1.90%
Other CCG spend(no inflation) Other CCG spend(no inflation)
Other Primary Care 0.58% Other Primary Care 2.30%
Other CCG spend 0.58% Other CCG spend 0.92%

19/20 19/20
Prescribing 2.50% Prescribing -1.00%
Prescribing Other 2.50% Prescribing Other -1.00%
Reserves Reserves
Mental Health 3.70% Mental Health -1.10%
Mental Health Income Mental Health Income
Non NHS MH 3.40% Non NHS MH -1.10%
LD 3.70% LD -1.10%
Community Contracts 3.75% Community Contracts -1.10%
Community Other 3.40% Community Other -1.10%
Continuing Care spend 3.40% Continuing Care spend -1.10%
Secondary or Tertiary acute care 3.80% Secondary or Tertiary acute care -1.10%
RWHT 3.80% RWHT -1.10%
West Midlands Ambulance 3.72% West Midlands Ambulance -1.10%
ETO Reserve ETO Reserve
Running Costs Running Costs
Other CCG spend(no inflation) Other CCG spend(no inflation)
Other Primary Care Other Primary Care
Other CCG spend 3.40% Other CCG spend -1.10%

ONS POPULATION STATISTICS - MOST LIKELY
Other Factors impacting on contract growth - MOST 

LIKELY

INFLATIONARY ASSUMPTIONS - MOST LIKELY EFFICIENCIES ASSUMPTIONS - MOST LIKELY

Growth has been based on two elements, demographic (ONS) projections as 
provided by Public Health, and non ONS projections derived from trend analysis. The 
table below details the impact on each component of the CCGs allocation following 
the adoption of these assumptions.

b/f recurrent Inflation Efficiency ONS Growth 
Non ONS 
growth Developments QIPP Total 19/20

£'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000
Programme costs 360,146 12,266 3,738-           2,005 9,251 15,247 12,435-      382,742
Delegated Primary Care 36,552 1,243 402-              212 336 2,069 735-            39,275
Running Costs 5,515 - - - 104 - 305-            5,314
Total as per LTFM M9v5 402,213 13,509 4,140-           2,217 9,691 17,316 13,475-      427,331

3.3 In addition to the elements above the CCG has considered activity trends over the 
last few years and has incorporated the following into the plan submission: 

Page 17



Governing Body Meeting – 26 March 2019 Page 6 of 12

FOT Final Figure Grwoth post QIPP Growth Percentage
83856 86004 2148 2.56%
57628 58727 1099 1.91%
26228 27277 1049 4.00%

217243 217751 508 0.23%
84474 85459 985 1.17%

132769 132292 -477 -0.36%
36250 38026 1776 4.90%
26463 27119 656 2.48%
22991 23637 646 2.81%

3472 3482 10 0.29%
28869 29134 265 0.92%

9116 9370 254 2.79%
19753 19764 11 0.06%

156768 158492 1724 1.10%
92020 93032 1012 1.10%
64748 65460 712 1.10%

Consultant Led Follow-Up Outpatient Attendances

Total Referrals (General and Acute)
GP Referrals (General and Acute)
Other Referrals (General and Acute)
Total Consultant Led Outpatient Attendances
Consultant Led First Outpatient Attendances

Total Non-Elective Admissions - +1 LoS
Total A&E Attendances excluding Planned Follow Ups
Type 1 A&E Attendances excluding Planned Follow Ups
Other A&E Attendances excluding Planned Follow Ups

Total Outpatient Appointments with Procedures*
Total Elective Admissions
Total Elective Admissions - Day Case
Total Elective Admissions - Ordinary
Total Non-Elective Admissions
Total Non-Elective Admissions - 0 LoS

3.5 NHSE has also introduced more stringent testing to ensure that CCGs are achieving 
the Mental Health Investment Standard. Achievement of the standard is a key metric 
(section 3.1). As such the CCG is required to increase it’s spending on such services 
by at least the same percentage as growth received and for 19/20 to achieve 6.8% 
increase. The CCG is anticipating achieving the MHIS in its plan.

Furthermore, the compliance with the MHIS in 17/18 will be audited during the late 
summer. Grant Thornton will be undertaking the audit, the scope of which has been 
set out by NHSE.

4. QIPP

4.1 In order to submit a balanced, assured plan for 19/20 the CCG has included a QIPP 
programme of £13.5m, 3.2% of its allocation. This is an extremely stretching target.  
The table below summarises the CCG QIPP challenge. 

Page 18



Governing Body Meeting – 26 March 2019 Page 7 of 12

 Recurrent/Non 
Recurrent 

Overall 
Rating

 £               98,000  R Medium 
Risk

 £             500,000  R Low Risk

 £             650,000  R Low Risk

 £             239,000  R Medium 
Risk

 £             111,000  R Medium 
Risk

 £             600,000  R Low Risk

 £             200,000  R Medium 
Risk

 £           1,015,000  R Medium 
Risk

 £           1,225,645  R Low Risk

 £             100,000  R Medium 
Risk

 £             215,698  R Medium 
Risk

 £             735,000  R Low Risk

 £             305,000  R Low Risk

 £           1,000,000  R Low Risk

 £               20,000  R Low Risk

 £               35,000  R Low Risk

 £             374,000  R Low Risk

 £             417,000  R Low Risk

 £             470,000  R Low Risk

 £             896,000  R Low Risk

 £           1,000,000  R Low Risk

 £           1,106,000  R Low Risk

 £               50,000  R Medium 
Risk

 £               60,000  R Low Risk

 £             100,000  R Low Risk

 £           1,350,000  R Low Risk

 £               86,000  R Low Risk

 £               60,000  R Low Risk

 £             147,000  R Low Risk

 £             308,657 Low Risk

TOTAL              13,474,000 

29. Right Care Respiratory Prescribing

30. Unidentified QIPP

27. Tapering Biologics in Rheumatoid Arthiritis 

28. Right Care Diabetes Prescribing

25. Prescribing - Not to routinely prescribe OTC 
medicines for self limiting conditions 
26. Prescribing efficiencies

23. Repeat Prescription Management 

24. Drugs of Low clinical Value items

21. UCC additional funding nolonger required
22. Biosimilar switch to best value biologic - 
adulimumab & Rituximab

19. Realignment of budgets

20. Realignment of budgets LD

17. Reealignment of budgets CHC

18. Realignment of budgets 

15. Realignment of budgets MSMG

13. Running Costs

11. Decommissioning of Blakenhall Resource 
Centre/Grove 

9. Managing Growth

7. Falls Service Redesign

5. Diabetes Right Care

3. EOL

1. Review of Stroke Therapy

Scheme Title

 Net 19/20 value 
(£s) [as included in 
CCGs financial plan 

i.e. CCG risk 
asssessed value]  

2. Contractual Changes 

16. Realignment of of budgets LA budget 

14. Risk/Gain Share Benefit

12. APMS Procurement

10. Demand Management - Peer Review

8. Care Closer to Home

6. Peadiatric Right Care

4. Respiratoy Right Care

As at 12.2.19

The QIPP programme is currently split as follows:

Page 19



Governing Body Meeting – 26 March 2019 Page 8 of 12

£'000 %
Acute Services 7,865 58.4%
Mental Health 1,564 11.6%
Community - 0.0%
CHC/FNC 375 2.8%
Prescribing 2,323 17.2%
Co Commissioning 735 5.5%
Running Costs 305 2.3%
Total allocated 13,167 97.7%
Unallocated 309 2.3%
Total 13,476 100.0%

4.2Delivery of the portfolio of QIPP schemes presents a significant challenge and risk to 
the CCG and the Programme Boards continue to develop and agree schemes to 
deliver the target (see risk section). The level of unidentified QIPP is 2.3% of the 
overall QIPP programme. The CCG has benefited from most of the “quick win” 
schemes and has now to be creative in developing solutions to bridge the gap. This 
will be challenging and although difficult is considered achievable.

5. Budgets and budget sign off

5.1 Within the LTFM and the recent planning submission the CCG has developed its 
budgets to meet the planning requirements. Below is an extract from the February 19 
submission. Budgets are currently based upon the Month 9 forecast outturn. It is 
acknowledged that there may be some movement between M9 and M12 and as such 
in the sign off process a statement has been included for Budget Holders to confirm 
that any material changes incurred between months 9 and 12 will be reflected before 
budgets are uploaded to the ledger. 

5.2 Running Cost Budgets

Budget Holders have been engaged in setting budgets, confirming their 
establishment and non-pay requirements. The main outstanding issue for Running 
Costs is the requirement to identify cost reductions equivalent to 20% of the 17/18 
Running Cost allocation by 1.4.20. For the CCG this requires a reduction of £651k of 
which QIPP has been identified  to the value of £305k in 19/20 with the balance to be 
identified in 2020/21

5.3 Programme Budgets

Programme budgets have been calculated based on the planning assumptions and 
known changes. Other Healthcare budgets have been discussed with Budget 
Holders and are in the process of sign off.

Page 20



Governing Body Meeting – 26 March 2019 Page 9 of 12

Revenue Resource Limit
£ 000 2018/19 blank12019/20
Recurrent 402,281 427,331
Non-Recurrent 8,464 -
Total In-Year allocation 410,745 427,331

Income and Expenditure
Acute 200,529 206,290
Mental Health 39,400 40,106
Community 40,748 44,899
Continuing Care 14,794 15,743
Primary Care 53,867 56,831
Other Programme 19,375 16,686
Primary Care Co-Commissioning 36,571 39,275
Total Programme Costs 405,285 419,830

Running Costs 5,460 5,316

Contingency - 2,186

Total Costs 410,745 427,331

£ 000 2018/19 2019/20
Underspend/(Deficit) In-Year Movement 0 0
In-Year (RAG) GREEN GREEN

Net Risk/Headroom -
Risk Adjusted Underspend/(Deficit) 0
Risk Adjusted Underspend/(Deficit) (RAG) GREEN

Underlying position - Underspend/ (Deficit) 7,519 3,899
Underlying position - Underspend/ (Deficit) % 2.1% 1.0%

Contingency - 2,186
Contingency % - 0.51%
Contingency (RAG) GREEN

Notified Running Cost Allocation 5,560 5,516
Running Cost 5,460 5,316
Under / (Overspend) 100 200
Running Costs (RAG) GREEN GREEN
Population Size (000) 279.5 282.3
Spend per head (£) 19.53 18.83

Key Planning Assumptions
2018/19 2019/20

Notified Allocation Change (£'000) 22,327
Notified Allocation Change (%) 3.3% 6.1%
Tariff Change - Acute (%) 0.1% 2.7%
Tariff Change - Non Acute (%) 0.0% 2.0%
Demographic Growth (%) 0.5% 0.6%
Non Demographic Growth - Acute (%) 1.8% 2.1%
Non Demographic Growth - Cont.Care(%) 7.0% 7.0%
Non Demographic Growth - Prescribing (%) 5.0% 3.7%
Non Demographic Growth - Other Non Acute (%) 2.0% 2.0%
Mental Health Investment Standard Y
Net Efficiency Savings
£ 000 2018/19 2019/20
Recurrent (inclusive of full year effect) 13,947 13,476
Non-Recurrent - -
Total 13,947 13,476
% of Notified Resource 3.5% 3.2%
Unidentified - 309
% Unidentified 0.0% 2.3%

BCF Minimum Pooled Fund 18,528 18,859
RAG GREEN GREEN

BALANCE SHEET memorandum - 
Movement on historic underspend/(deficit) 2018/19 2019/20
Brought forward underspend/(deficit) 9,986 9,986 
Adjusted for in-year (drawdown)/draw-up - -
In-year change from plan/In-year deficit 0 0 
Balance carried forward 9,986 9,986 
Underspend/(Deficit) % 2.7% 2.6%
Underspend (RAG) GREEN GREEN

Allowable drawdown within business rules 6,329 6,105 

Validation

Risk Adjusted Underspend/(Deficit) Cumlative 9,986
Risk Adjusted Underspend/(Deficit) % 2.6%
Risk Adjusted Underspend/(Deficit) (RAG) GREEN

Page 21



Governing Body Meeting – 26 March 2019 Page 10 of 12

6. Risk and Mitigations

6.1 The CCG has identified risks included within the 2019/20 budgets which total 
£3.05m. The key risks are as follows:

 £750k relates to potential level of overspend in the Acute Sector, a somewhat 
lower figure than 18/19  in anticipation of the agreement of an Aligned 
Incentives contract. 

 £500k in relation to the volatility of Mental Health services particularly 
individual cases and NCAs.

 £500k associated with Prescribing and the volatility within this budget 
particularly around NCSO and QIPP 

 £200k in relation to the uncertainty around Other Programme Services such 
as NHSPS. 

 £1.1m potential slippage in QIPP schemes

6.2 The CCG has identified mitigations for risks as detailed below.

 £1.95m - as in 2018/19 the CCG will utilise all of the Contingency reserve to 
offset overspends if they arise.

 £1.1m of further efficiency extensions. 

2019/20

Plan

C
o

n
tr

ac
t

Ef
fi

ci
e

n
cy

P
e

rf
o

rm
an

ce
 Is

su
e

s

P
re

sc
ri

b
in

g

O
th

e
r

TO
TA

L 
R

IS
K

S

C
o

n
ti

n
ge

n
cy

 H
e

ld

C
o

n
tr

ac
t 

R
e

se
rv

e
s

In
ve

st
m

e
n

ts
 U

n
co

m
m

it
te

d

Fu
rt

h
e

r 
Ef

fi
ci

e
n

cy
 E

xt
e

n
si

o
n

s

N
o

n
-R

e
cu

rr
e

n
t 

M
e

as
u

re
s

D
e

la
y 

/ 
R

e
d

u
ce

 In
ve

st
m

e
n

t 
P

la
n

s

O
th

e
r 

M
it

ig
at

io
n

s

P
o

te
n

ti
al

 F
u

n
d

in
g

TO
TA

L 
M

IT
IG

A
TI

O
N

S

£000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000

REVENUE RESOURCE LIMIT (IN YEAR) 427,154
REVENUE RESOURCE LIMIT (CUMULATIVE) 437,140

Acute Services 206,290 (750) (1,000) 0 (1,750) 750 1,000 1,750 0 500
Mental Health services 40,106 0 (100) 0 (500) (600) 500 100 600 0 500
Community Health Services 44,899 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
Continuing Care  Services 15,743 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
Primary Care Services 56,831 0 0 0 (500) (500) 500 0 500 0
Primary Care Co-Commissioning 39,275 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
Other Programme Services 16,509 0 0 0 (200) (200) 200 0 200 0
Commissioning Services Total 419,653 (750) (1,100) 0 (500) (700) (3,050) 1,950 0 0 1,100 0 0 0 0 3,050 0 1,000
Running Costs 5,316 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
Unidentified QIPP 0 0 0 0 0
TOTAL CCG NET EXPENDITURE 424,969 (750) (1,100) 0 (500) (700) (3,050) 1,950 0 0 1,100 0 0 0 0 3,050 0 1,000
Contingency 2,186
IN YEAR UNDERSPEND / (DEFICIT) 0
CUMULATIVE UNDERSPEND / (DEFICIT) 9,986

CCG RISKS & MITIGATIONS

RISKS (enter negative values only) MITIGATIONS (enter positive values only)

TOTAL 
NET (RISK) / 
MITIGATION

Of Which: 
RECURRENT

6.3As a consequence of the risks and mitigations the CCG starts 2018/19 with nil net risk. 

Page 22



Governing Body Meeting – 26 March 2019 Page 11 of 12

Surplus £m

Most Likely Case 9.986 No risks or mitigations, achieves 
control total

Best Case 13.036 Risks do not materialise and 
mitigations achieved, achieves control 
total

Worst Case 6.936 No mitigations achieved but risks 
materialise CCG misses control total

7.     CONCLUSIONS

Whilst the CCG financial plan for 2019/20 meets all the planning requirements and 
can withstand the mitigation of a certain level of risk there are still a number of 
variables that, without their resolution, place undue additional risk on the position that 
may make it undeliverable. In summary these are:

 Risk associate associated with continued NCSO
 Impact of any EU withdrawal consequences.
 Future funding of TCP and potential impact on the Local Authority
 Changes to the responsible commissioner for Specialised Commissioning 

portfolio

8. RECOMMENDATIONS
The Finance and Performance Committee is requested:

 To receive and discuss the report 
 To note the level of financial risk associated with the proposed 2018/19 

budgets.
 To recommend to the Governing Body that it should note the financial plan as 

presented, including the risk and challenges detailed.
 To make a recommendation for Budget sign off to the March Governing 

Body meeting.

Name Lesley Sawrey
Job Title Deputy Chief Finance Officer
Date: 12th February 2019

Page 23



Governing Body Meeting – 26 March 2019 Page 12 of 12

REPORT SIGN-OFF CHECKLIST

This section must be completed before the report is submitted to the Admin team. If 
any of these steps are not applicable please indicate, do not leave blank.

Details/
Name

Date

Clinical View
Public/ Patient View
Finance Implications discussed with Finance Team
Quality Implications discussed with Quality and Risk 
Team
Medicines Management Implications discussed with 
Medicines Management team
Equality Implications discussed with CSU Equality and 
Inclusion Service
Information Governance implications discussed with IG 
Support Officer
Legal/ Policy implications discussed with Corporate 
Operations Manager
Signed off by Report Owner (Must be completed)

Page 24



Governing Body
26 March 2019 Page 1 of 

WOLVERHAMPTON CCG

Governing Body Meeting
Tuesday 26 March 2019

                                                                                                    Agenda item 7

TITLE OF REPORT: CCG and STP Operating Plans

AUTHOR(s) OF REPORT: Mike Hastings

MANAGEMENT LEAD: Mike Hastings

PURPOSE OF REPORT:
A copy of both the Wolverhampton CCG Operating Plan 2019/20 and 
the Black Country and West Birmingham STP Summary Narrative 
Operating Plan 2019/20 are attached for assurance.  

ACTION REQUIRED:
☐     Decision

☒     Assurance

PUBLIC OR PRIVATE: This Report is intended for the public domain

KEY POINTS:

 Two plans attached for the Governing Body members 
assurance

 Wolverhampton CCG Operating Plan 2019/20 
 Black Country and West Birmingham STP Summary Narrative 

Operating Plan 2019/20

RECOMMENDATION: To be noted

LINK TO BOARD 
ASSURANCE FRAMEWORK 
AIMS & OBJECTIVES:

1. Improving the quality and 
safety of the services we 
commission

The Operating Plans set out how we plan to improve the quality 
and safety of the services we commission

2. Reducing Health 
Inequalities in 
Wolverhampton

The Operating Plans set out how we plan to reduce health 
inequalities

3. System effectiveness The Operating Plans set out how we plan to deliver system 

Page 25

Agenda Item 7



Governing Body
26 March 2019 Page 2 of 

delivered within our 
financial envelope

effectiveness within our financial envelope

1. BACKGROUND AND CURRENT SITUATION

1.1. Originally the CCG was told that we needed to submit a 12 month Operating Plan for 
the CCG however, this guidance then changed nationally.  The CCG is now only 
obliged to contribute towards an STP wide 12 month Operating Plan which is 
attached.  The Executive team took the decision to develop a local operating plan for 
our own local requirements to assist in planning for 2019/20.  Both of these reports 
are attached.

1.2. The STP 12 month Operating Plan narrative was populated following a template with 
instructions to ensure it is a concise report.  There is an expectation that a further five 
year plan will be written for the STP in the early Summer.

1.3. Necessary arrangements have been made via the STP to complete this plan once 
the full guidance is published.

1.4. The local Wolverhampton Operating Plan covers:

 The NHS Long Term Plan
 Financial Sustainability
 All areas of Commissioning
 Workforce
 Digital
 Medicines

1.5.As the STP transitions to an Integrated Care System (ICS) with a single 
commissioner voice it is important that we have a clear articulated plan setting out 
our ambitions for the year.

2. CLINICAL VIEW

2.1. None

3. PATIENT AND PUBLIC VIEW

3.1. Section 11 of the report sets out our engagement plans over the next 12 months.

4. KEY RISKS AND MITIGATIONS

Page 26



Governing Body
26 March 2019 Page 3 of 

4.1. The CCG monitors the potential risks to its activities at a strategic level through its 
corporate risk register. Those presently considered are presented in appendix A.

5. IMPACT ASSESSMENT

Financial and Resource Implications

5.1. See section 4.2 of the report

Quality and Safety Implications

5.2. See section 10 of the report

Equality Implications

5.3. As outlined within the planning documents

Legal and Policy Implications

5.4. N/a

Other Implications

5.5. See relevant sections of the report

Name Mike Hastings
Job Title Director of Operations
Date: 18th March 2019

ATTACHED: 

 Wolverhampton CCG Operating Plan 2019/20 
 Black Country and West Birmingham STP Summary Narrative Operating Plan 2019/20

RELEVANT BACKGROUND PAPERS
(Including national/CCG policies and frameworks)

REPORT SIGN-OFF CHECKLIST

This section must be completed before the report is submitted to the Admin team. If 
any of these steps are not applicable please indicate, do not leave blank.

Details/ Date

Page 27



Governing Body
26 March 2019 Page 4 of 

Name
The Operating Plans were written by the Mdlands & 
Lancs CSU Strategy Unit with input from all teams 
within the CCG

M Hastings 18/3/19

Clinical View
Public/ Patient View
Finance Implications discussed with Finance Team
Quality Implications discussed with Quality and Risk 
Team
Equality Implications discussed with CSU Equality and 
Inclusion Service
Information Governance implications discussed with IG 
Support Officer
Legal/ Policy implications discussed with Corporate 
Operations Manager
Other Implications (Medicines management, estates, 
HR, IM&T etc.)
Any relevant data requirements discussed with CSU 
Business Intelligence
Signed off by Report Owner (Must be completed) M Hastings 18/3/19

Page 28



Governing Body
26 March 2019 Page 5 of 

BOARD ASSURANCE FRAMEWORK NOTES
(Please DELETE before submission)

Following a review of the BAF, it will now be based on the risks associated with the CCG achieving 
its strategic aims and objectives as follows:-

Strategic Aims Strategic Objectives
1. Improving the quality 

and safety of the 
services we 
commission 

a. Ensure on-going safety and performance in the system 
Continually check, monitor and encourage providers to improve 
the quality and safety of patient services ensuring that patients 
are always at the centre of all our commissioning decisions

2. Reducing health 
inequalities in 
Wolverhampton

a. Improve and develop primary care in Wolverhampton – Deliver 
our Primary Care Strategy to innovate, lead and transform the 
way local health care is delivered, supporting emerging clinical 
groupings and fostering strong local partnerships to achieve this

b. Deliver new models of care that support care closer to home and 
improve management of Long Term Conditions Supporting the 
development of Multi-Speciality Community Provider and Primary 
and Acute Care Systems to deliver more integrated services in 
Primary Care and Community settings

3. System effectiveness 
delivered within our 
financial envelope

a. Proactively drive our contribution to the Black Country STP Play a 
leading role in the development and delivery of the Black Country 
STP to support material improvement in health and wellbeing for 
both Wolverhampton residents and the wider Black Country 
footprint.

b. Greater integration of health and social care services across 
Wolverhampton
Work with partners across the City to support the development 
and delivery of the emerging vision for transformation; including 
exploring the potential for an ‘Accountable Care System.’

c. Continue to meet our Statutory Duties and responsibilities 
Providing assurance that we are delivering our core purpose of 
commissioning high quality health and care for our patients that 
meet the duties of the NHS Constitution, the Mandate to the NHS 
and the CCG Improvement and Assessment Framework

d. Deliver improvements in the infrastructure for health and care 
across Wolverhampton
The CCG will work with our members and other key partners to 
encourage innovation in the use of technology, effective 
utilisation of the estate across the public sector and the 
development of a modern up skilled workforce across 
Wolverhampton.

Page 29



This page is intentionally left blank



Black Country & West Birmingham 
Sustainability and Transformation Partnership (STP) 
 

 

 
Black Country and West Birmingham STP 2019/20 Operational Plan: Summary 

Narrative Submission 
19 February 2019 

 
 

Purpose 

This document is designed to provide a system overview and data aggregation for 

the Black Country and West Birmingham (BCWB) STP for 2019/20, representing the 

first year of the system’s five-year strategic plan to be published in autumn 2019.  

1. System priorities and deliverables 

The system priorities for its population for 2019/20 are closely aligned to the Long 
Term Plan (LTP): 
 

 Boosting ‘out-of-hospital’ care and dissolving boundaries between primary 

and community care 

o Four places within the STP providing integrated care provision, 

underpinned by Primary Care Networks (PCNs). In 2019/20 service 

and pathway integration will reach beyond primary care to include other 

health and care services. This will include district nursing, pharmacy, 

social workers, community psychiatric nursing, social prescribing, 

housing and a range of other roles to support patients’ care in their own 

communities;  

o Bringing together mental health provision under one Trust in the STP 

footprint. 

 

 Reducing pressure on emergency hospital services 

o Increase urgent treatment centre capacity; 

o Establish an acute frailty service at Royal Wolverhampton Trust (RWT); 

o Increase access to primary care to free up the time of specialist 

emergency care clinicians to service serious or life-threatening cases. 

 

 Giving people more control over their health and providing more 

personalised care where appropriate 

o PCNs supporting local populations will allow the provision of personal 

care. Move from disease management alone, towards prevention, 

wellbeing and self-care, optimising patient outcomes;  

Page 31



 
 

 

 

o On-going delivery of Transforming Care programme for Learning 

Disabilities across the Black Country. 

 

 Mainstreaming digitally-enabled primary and outpatient care across the 

NHS 

o Development of a Local Digital Roadmap for the STP to deliver a 

digitally connected Black Country health and social care system that 

enables self-care and promotes wellbeing.  

 

 A nationwide shift to ICSs with a focus on population health 

o Transition Board created to oversee the shift to an ICS. Figure 1 below 

shows the system transition timeline including CCG integration; 

o Increased responsibility for the STP Joint Commissioning Committee to 

commission certain services at scale, supported by the system clinical 

leadership group.  

 

 

Figure 1: System transition timeline for Black Country and West Birmingham STP 

 

Commissioning across the STP 

Also in-line with the LTP is the focus for the STP on providing a strong start to life for 

children and young people and better care for major health conditions. 

Page 32



 
 

 

 

 
BCWB STP Clinical Strategy 
 

The BCWB STP clinical leadership group have developed a clinical strategy for the 

STP that describes 12 priority areas, each with its own case for change, quality of 

care statement and triple aim opportunities. These areas are: 

 

 Primary Care 

 Cancer 

 Mental Health 

 Learning Disability Services 

 Maternity and Neonates 

 Children and Young People 

 Urgent and Emergency Care 

 Cardiovascular Disease 

 Clinical Support Services 

 Musculoskeletal Conditions 

 Respiratory Disease 

 Frailty 

 
A STP primary care strategy will be in place from August 2019. Further areas 
with early defined cross-STP planning are described below. 
 
 
Mental health commissioning 
 

There are 11 mental health workstreams that will be commissioned as one across 

the STP from 2019/20. These are: 

 

 ADHD (Adult) 

 ASD (Adult) 

 CAMHS Core 

 CAMHS Crisis 

 Core 24 

 Criminal Justice 

 Crisis Care 

 Dementia Diagnosis 

 Eating Disorders 

 EIP 

 Personality Disorder 

Page 33



 
 

 

 

By the beginning of 2019/20 all 11 workstreams will have finalised service 

specifications and will have been processed through the 4 CCG’s Commissioning 

Committees and Governing Bodies for approval. 

 
STP Cancer commissioning 
 

The Black Country and West Birmingham Cancer Group1 have set out a number of 

priorities in order to improve cancer outcomes for the resident population; deliver the 

National Cancer agenda and deliver the West Midlands Cancer Alliance priorities 

which are:   

 

 To achieve all national cancer waiting time standards. 

 To work with providers to ensure the implementation of nationally agreed 

rapid assessment and diagnostic pathways for lung, prostate and colorectal 

cancers; Cancer Alliance priority to include Upper Gastrointestinal cancers. 

 To agree and implement a plan to improve screening uptake 

 To agree and implement a plan to improve early diagnosis. 

 To support the Cancer Alliance in making progress towards implementation of 

stratified cancer pathways 

 To agree and implement a plan to improve implementation of the Recovery 

Package 
 

Performance monitoring 

The STP has a programme delivery working group that monitors its performance 

against constitutional standards and progress against milestones on transformational 

assurance requirements. 

 

Digital Roadmap 

A Local Digital Roadmap for the Black Country is in development. Wolverhampton 

CCG hosts a monthly programme board whereby commissioners and providers 

across the STP have successfully bid for funding in collaboration, from sources such 

as LHCRE, HSLI and ETTF.  The digital solutions that are being implemented are 

enablers for change to new clinical ways of working and empowering patients to care 

                                                      
1
This group is comprised of cancer managers and lead nurses of all four Trusts, all four CCGs, as well as from 

MacMillan, West Midlands Cancer Alliance, NHS England, Health Education England and NHS Right Care. The 
group is chaired by the STP lead cancer consultant and supported by the STP lead commissioning director for 
cancer. 
 

Page 34



 
 

 

 

for themselves.  Interoperability standards underpin bespoke clinical and 

administrative systems, supporting a single joined up care record suitable for direct 

care and population health management. 

Estates Strategy 

The STP has an interim estates strategy in place. This will be further developed in 

2019/20 in line with the following principles: 

 Co-location with other health and care services 

 Improve the effective utilisation of the estate 

 Estate meets the demands of the clinical strategy 

 The strategy supports the delivery of new models of care 

 Rationalisation and disposal of surplus or unfit estate 

 Improve the quality and condition of the estate 

 Improve collaboration across providers and commissioners 

 Achieve the principles identified within the Naylor report 

 Reduce running costs and back log maintenance 

 Achieve the Carter metrics where possible and appropriate 

 Building a flexible estate – adoption of bookable systems 

 Estate is fit for purpose and where not is disposed of 

 Address population increases and demographics 

Population Health Management 

The BCWB STP has recently established a PHM workstream with a named SRO. 

The priorities and deliverables described above will provide the system with the core 

capabilities for PHM of infrastructure, intelligence and interventions. 

2. Activity Assumptions 

The mechanism for aligning activity assumptions at the system level is a joint DoF 

meeting. This will be extended to include directors of commissioning and strategy 

from system stakeholders. This body will also manage in-year demand fluctuations.  

 

Activity growth levels have been determined through joint agreement at place level 

and reflect the local estimated demand requirements for patient healthcare, 

beginning with the national 2018/19 published growth levels which have been 

adjusted to reflect the actual demand seen during the past 12 months. 

 

Page 35



 
 

 

 

3. Capacity Planning 

There is a system lead in place for winter planning who works with counterparts in 

each of the system’s four places. 

 

Demand and capacity plans from each of the four places for end of life care are 

being reviewed by the STP in order to establish a system-wide view. Work is also 

being undertaken at this level to identify and avoid non-beneficial acute sector 

treatments in the last 12 months of life. This, and other work, will inform an end-of-

life strategy for the STP to be in place for the winter of 2019.  

 

Capacity in out-of-hospital services will also be reviewed in 2019/20 as part of 

enhanced care in care homes and activity to avoid delayed transfer of care.  

4. Workforce 

The STP, through the LWAB, will review workforce in 2019/20 with the following 
priorities: 

 Long-term workforce requirements 

 Immediate requirements  

 
STP workforce programmes are in place for: 

 Mental Health 

 Primary Care 

 Transforming Care Together 

 

These will be consolidated for the STP workforce plan that will be developed during 

2019/20. There is an STP-wide review of challenged services that will also inform 

this plan. 

5. System financial position and risk management 

The organisations within the STP have a strong record in financial management, 
however the final quarter of 2018/19 has seen some substantial pressure emerging, 
particularly within the Acute Trust sector. The financial environment is challenging 
and a number of provider organisations have individual control totals which are very 
demanding.  
 
The commissioning sector is largely break-even, with the exception of Dudley CCG 
which has been allowed to draw down £2m of its historical surplus. 
 
The overall control total for the Black Country has been notified as £48.5m deficit 
excluding provider sustainability and marginal rate funding, which will deliver a 

Page 36



 
 

 

 

£9.7m surplus should all of the funding be achieved. However as mentioned above, 
this is a very demanding target and given the performance standards required to be 
achieved, this will be very challenging. 
 
Through the work of the DoFs group, system performance and risks are regularly 
assessed throughout the year. Performance reports are presented monthly to both 
the DoFs and STP Board which highlight the financial and non-financial achievement 
against plans. These reports highlight anticipated risks and assist the STP to 
implement mitigations against under delivery of plans. 

6. Efficiencies 

The STP is working towards aligned QIPP and CIP programmes.  

 

The STP will closely monitor the quality impact of identified efficiencies through the 

review of relevant quality impact assessments. 
 

 
 

Page 37



This page is intentionally left blank



Wolverhampton 
Clinical 
Commissioning 
Group
Operational Plan 2019/20

Page 39



Page 1 of 58

Contents
1. Introduction .......................................................................................................................3

2. Local challenges ...............................................................................................................4

3. National context ................................................................................................................5

3.1 The Long Term Plan..................................................................................................5

3.2 National Strategies ....................................................................................................7

4. Transitioning to the Long Term Plan.................................................................................7

4.1 Delivering system alignment......................................................................................8

Black Country ICS Transition............................................................................................8

STP Clinical Strategy........................................................................................................9

Local Integrated Care Provision .....................................................................................11

Wolverhampton Integrated Care Provision.....................................................................12

Primary Care networks ...................................................................................................14

4.2 Financial sustainability.............................................................................................16

5. Meeting our 2019/20 Operating Plan Requirements ......................................................17

5.1 Urgent and Emergency Care...................................................................................18

Summary ........................................................................................................................18

Urgent and emergency care at the STP level.................................................................18

Urgent and emergency care services in Wolverhampton ...............................................19

5.2 Referral to Treatment Times and Elective Care ......................................................21

Summary ........................................................................................................................21

Referral to treatment times and elective care at the STP level.......................................21

Referral to treatment times and elective care in Wolverhampton ...................................22

5.3 Cancer Treatment....................................................................................................22

Summary ........................................................................................................................22

Cancer services at the STP level....................................................................................23

Cancer services in Wolverhampton ................................................................................23

5.4 Mental Health ..........................................................................................................26

Summary ........................................................................................................................26

Mental health services at the STP level..........................................................................26

Mental health services in Wolverhampton ......................................................................27

5.5 Adult Learning Disabilities and Autism ....................................................................29

Summary ........................................................................................................................29

Learning disability and autism services at the STP level................................................29

Learning disability and autism services in Wolverhampton ............................................30

5.6 Primary Care and Community Health Services .......................................................31

Page 40



Page 2 of 58

Summary ........................................................................................................................31

Primary and community care at the STP level................................................................31

Primary and community care in Wolverhampton ............................................................32

Better Care Fund ............................................................................................................35

5.7 Children and Young People’s Services ...................................................................37

Summary ........................................................................................................................37

Children and young people’s services at the STP level..................................................37

Children and young people’s services in Wolverhampton ..............................................37

5.8 Longer term deliverables .........................................................................................40

6. Workforce .......................................................................................................................41

Primary care workforce strategy .....................................................................................41

Mental health workforce strategy....................................................................................42

STP Workforce Strategy .................................................................................................43

7. Data and Technology......................................................................................................43

Local Digital Roadmap....................................................................................................44

NHS App.........................................................................................................................45

8. Personal Health Budgets ................................................................................................45

Personalised Care ..........................................................................................................46

9. Medicines Optimisation...................................................................................................46

10. Quality .........................................................................................................................47

11. Engagement................................................................................................................48

12. Risks ...........................................................................................................................49

13. Concluding remarks ....................................................................................................49

Appendix A – Wolverhampton CCG Corporate Risks............................................................51

Appendix B – Cancer priorities at national, system and place...............................................53

Appendix C – Mental health priorities at national, system and place.....................................54

Appendix D – Learning disabilities and autism priorities at national, system and place ........55

Appendix E – Primary and community care priorities at national, system and place.............56

Page 41



Page 3 of 58

1. Introduction

‘2019/20 will be the foundation year which will see significant changes 
proposed to the architecture of the NHS, laying the groundwork for 
implementation of the Long Term Plan’.1

For Wolverhampton CCG, this means focusing on maintaining work currently 
underway in key priority areas, both locally and regionally, as well as supporting 
planned transitions to an Integrated Care System (ICS) and integrated care provision 
for the four ‘places’ of the Black County and West Birmingham Sustainability and 
Transformation Partnership (BCWB STP) – Wolverhampton, Walsall, Dudley and 
Sandwell and West Birmingham. This focus will enable us to align the CCG with the 
ICS as it develops, transitioning to the local, regional and national healthcare system 
set out in the NHS’s Long-Term Plan (LTP).2

This Operational Plan for 2019/20 is a response to the context outlined above; to 
make the appropriate decisions as to our operations to be fit-for-the-future, whilst 
maintaining our eye on existing responsibilities to our population. 

Our vision for the future is to commission the right healthcare services for our 
population, in the right place, at the right time, within the context of limited 
resources. In order to achieve this, we have five priorities for the coming year:  

 continue to commission high quality, safe healthcare services within our 
budget;  

 focus on prevention and early treatment; 
 ensure our services are cost effective and sustainable;  
 Align our clinical priorities, as appropriate, to the Black Country and West 

Birmingham STP/ICS;
 Build on our Primary Care Networks (PCNs), wrapping community, social care 

and mental health services around them. 

The detail provided in the reminder of this planning document outlines how we will 
achieve these priorities.

1 NHSE, NHSI. NHS Operational Planning and Contracting Guidance 2019/20. 2019. Available at 
https://www.england.nhs.uk/wp-content/uploads/2018/12/NHS-Operational-Planning-and-Contracting-
Guidance-201920-FULL-VERSION.pdf
2 NHSE, NHSI. NHS Long Term Plan. 2019. Available at https://www.longtermplan.nhs.uk/

Page 42



Page 4 of 58

2. Local challenges

Wolverhampton has a population of 258,100 (2016) which is estimated to grow to 
264,000 by 2020 and 275,900 by 2030. Wolverhampton is a diverse city and 32 per 
cent of our population belongs to black minority ethnic (BME) communities compared 
to 15 per cent for England.3 Table 1 provides some of the key demographic detail for 
Wolverhampton, compared to the national picture:

Table 1: Sociodemographic profile of Wolverhampton and England. Taken from Public Health 

England. Wolverhampton Local Authority health profile (2018).

Wolverhampton is one of the most densely populated local authority areas in 
England and is amongst the most deprived areas within the country ranking as the 
11th most deprived local authority area in England. In recent years unemployment 
has fallen in the city but it remains the sixth highest unemployment rate per local 
authority in England. Figure 1 demonstrates Wolverhampton’s deprivation and its 
distribution across the city:

 

3 WCCG, Annual Report 2017/18. (2018). Available at https://wolverhamptonccg.nhs.uk/about-us/10-about-
us/660-annual-report-2017-18

Wolverhampton

Page 43



Page 5 of 58

Figure 1: Deprivation profile of Wolverhampton and England. Taken from Public Health England. 

Wolverhampton Local Authority health profile (2018).

The previous trend of increasing life expectancy for men and women in 
Wolverhampton has begun to level off in recent years and the gap to England is not 
increasing. Healthy life expectancy data shows that in Wolverhampton, men and 
women live 7.0 and 4.6 years respectively in poorer health than the England 
average. In Wolverhampton the average man and woman can expect to live the last 
21 years and 21.9 years of their lives respectively in poor health. It is these years 
lived in poor health that leads to higher demand on our health and social care 
services in Wolverhampton. 

There are six conditions which account for over half of the difference in life 
expectancy that exists between Wolverhampton and England. These are heart 
disease, stroke, infant mortality, lung cancer, respiratory illness and alcohol mis-use. 
The impact of these conditions is seen disproportionally in the most disadvantaged 
communities. We are committed to reducing unwarranted variation where possible, 
drawing on RightCare4 analysis. 

Cancer, in particular, is a low performance area for the city and plans are being 
realised in 2019/20 to mitigate against this (see section 5.3).

It is recognised that there will always be variation in clinical care and this is at the 
heart of place-based systems. Some variation is based on clinical need and 
appropriate decision-making; on early adoption of innovation and of new technology, 
for example. However, unwarranted variation is not acceptable and can often lead to 
poorer outcomes. We understand that the healthcare needs of our population will be 
different across localities. Whereas we are committed to reducing unwarranted 
variation, some intended variation will be necessary across localities to reflect the 
fact that each patient is different, and interventions should be assessed according to 
the needs of the population served.   

3. National context

3.1 The Long Term Plan

In January 2019 NHS England (NHSE) published its LTP, setting out a vision for the 
NHS over the next ten years, supported by the £20.5 billion additional investment in 

4 The NHS RightCare teams work locally with systems to present a diagnosis of data and evidence across that 
population.

Page 44



Page 6 of 58

real terms by 2023/24 and building on the new models of care tested and refreshed 
as part of the NHS Five Year Forward View5 and Next Steps on the NHS Five Year 
Forward View6 respectively. The key service priorities set out in the LTP are:

 Boosting ‘out-of-hospital’ care and dissolving boundaries between primary 
and community care;

 Reducing pressure on emergency hospital services;
 Giving people more control over their health and providing more 

personalised care where appropriate;
 Mainstreaming digitally-enabled primary and outpatient care across the 

NHS;
 A nationwide shift to ICSs with a focus on population health.

These priorities will be enabled locally and nationally by:

1. Doing things differently – giving people more control over their own health 
and care, encourage collaboration between GPs, their teams and community 
services, as ‘primary care networks’, to increase the services they can provide 
jointly, and increase the focus on NHS organisations working with their local 
partners, as ‘Integrated Care Systems’, to plan and deliver services which 
meet the needs of their communities;

2. Preventing illness and tackling health inequalities – increasing NHS 
contributions to tackling causes of ill health;

3. Backing our workforce – increasing the NHS workforce, training and 
recruiting more professionals, including clinicians, providing more routes into 
the NHS and improving retention by making the NHS a better place to work;

4. Making better use of data and digital technology – providing more 
convenient access to services and health information for patients, with the 
new NHS App as a digital ‘front door’, better access to digital tools and patient 
records for staff, and improvements to the planning and delivery of services 
based on the analysis of patient and population data; and

5. Getting the most out of taxpayers’ investment in the NHS – working with 
clinicians to reduce duplication and make better use of the NHS’s combined 
buying power to reduce costs.

5 NHSE. Five Year Forward View. (NHSE, 2014). Available at https://www.england.nhs.uk/wp-
content/uploads/2014/10/5yfv-web.pdf
6 NHSE. Next steps on the NHS Five Year Forward View. 2017. Available at 
https://www.england.nhs.uk/publication/next-steps-on-the-nhs-five-year-forward-view/

Page 45



Page 7 of 58

This Operational Plan details how Wolverhampton CCG is already planning on 
delivering against these priorities locally, laying the ground work for their 
realisation at the system level. 

3.2 National Strategies

Various national strategies have informed the plans detailed here for 2019/20: These 
include (but are not restricted to):

 Five Year Forward View (2014) and Next Steps on the NHS Five Year 
Forward View (2017)

 Achieving World Class Cancer Outcomes (2015)

 Building the right support (2015)

 General Practice Forward View (2016)

 The Five Year Forward View for Mental Health (2016)

 Better Births: Improving outcomes of maternity services in England – A Five 
Year Forward View for maternity care (2016)

The work we have carried out in delivering against these strategies to date has laid 
the foundations for us to transition to the health system set out in the LTP. More 
specifically, they support the emergence of PCNs and other local infrastructure to 
deliver care in the right place, at the right time, making best use of local resources. 

4. Transitioning to the Long Term Plan

As highlighted above, Wolverhampton is part of the BCWB STP consisting of 18 
partners including NHS commissioners, providers and local authorities. The STP set 
out a five-year plan7 in 2016 to transform the local health and care system around 
the following priorities:

 Implementing local place-based models of care that deliver improved access 
to better coordinated community and primary care that provides greater 
continuity for patients who can and should receive integrated services in an 
out of hospital setting; 

 Extending collaboration between acute service providers to create a 
coordinated system of care across the Black Country to reduce variation, 
improve quality and deliver organisational efficiencies; 

7 Available at http://www.dudleyccg.nhs.uk/wp-content/uploads/2016/11/Black-Country-STP-Full-Plan.pdf

Page 46



Page 8 of 58

 Building on existing plans to transform mental health and learning disability 
services; 

 Addressing the significant challenges faced in maternal and infant health 
through the development of a single maternity plan; 

 Working together on key enablers such as digital infrastructure, public sector 
estate utilisation and workforce transformation to deliver modern patient 
centred services and commissioning functions; and 

 Acting in partnership with the West Midlands Combined Authority (WMCA) 
and other partners to address the wider determinants of health including 
employment, education and housing. 

It is likely that these priorities will be reviewed in 2019/20 as part of the development 
of the STP five-year plan in response to the LTP. The challenge for 2019/20 is to 
continue to integrate patient pathways at the local level, whilst working 
towards strategic and operational alignment as described in the LTP. 

4.1 Delivering system alignment

Black Country ICS Transition

By 2021, NHSE have stipulated that all STPs will have transitioned into ICSs, 
bringing together local organisations to redesign care and improve population health. 
In 2019/20, therefore, significant progress is required in the Black Country in 
realising this transition. This will be overseen by a Transition Board, made up of 
Accountable Officers (AOs) and Chairs. 

Our vision for the Black Country ICS is working together to improve the health, 
wellbeing and prosperity of our local population. 

The four CCGs in the Black Country: Sandwell and West Birmingham, Dudley, 
Walsall and ourselves, have formed a Joint Commissioning Committee (JCC) to 
enable us to commission some services at scale for people across the Black 
Country. This committee is complemented by the work of a Clinical Leadership 
Group (CLG) which has been integral to the development of the STP’s clinical 
strategy. It is planned for the JCC to be delegated greater responsibility in 2019/20 
for spending in mental health, learning disabilities, community services delivered by 
the Black Country Partnership Foundation Trust (BCPFT) and acute services. 
Furthermore, in 2020/21, an options appraisal will be carried out to determine the 
organising framework for a ‘single commissioning voice’ in the Black Country and 

Page 47



Page 9 of 58

planning for this will commence in 2019/20. Figure 2 shows the transition timeline for 
the system:

Figure 2: System transition timeline for BCWB

STP Clinical Strategy

As we align our strategic planning to the STP, we must review our local 
commissioning priorities against the STP clinical strategy. This strategy will 
shape system transformation in terms of the ‘triple aim’: the triple aim is part of the 
NHS Five Year Forward View. This sets out areas where action must be taken to 
ensure that people in England receive Better Health; Better Care; Better Value. 

This strategy will inform the phasing of the transformation work required, providing 
focus for the areas where immediate attention and action is required. For the CCG, 
it enables the shift towards an Integrated Care Alliance (ICA) and closer 
system working for Wolverhampton and sets out a pathway which informs our 
operating requirements for 2019/20.

Consistent with the Five Year Forward View, the clinical strategy will support delivery 
of national priorities: 

 7-day services – right care, right time, right quality; 

 Integrated mental health and physical health; 

Page 48



Page 10 of 58

 The promotion of good mental health and prevention of poor mental health; 

 Driving up early cancer diagnosis as well as treatment times. 

In addition to describing our local commissioning priorities therefore, the sections 
below will also discuss relevant clinical priorities at the STP level to demonstrate how 
alignment will take place between the STP clinical strategy and the CCG plans. 
Underpinning this alignment are a number of system enablers which will we will 
support the delivery of in 2019/20 (figure 3).

Figure 3: Drivers for integrated care in BCWB STP

As an introduction, Table 2 includes the clinical priorities for the STP which have 
been based on the Five Year Forward View, 2018/19 NHSE Planning Guidance and 
opportunities identified via RightCare.

Page 49



Page 11 of 58

Table 2: BCWB STP Clinical Priorities taken from BCWB Clinical Strategy

*NHSE Five Year Forward View priorities

Local Integrated Care Provision

Local place-based models of care are being developed and implemented for each of 
the four STP places in support of the clinical strategy. These models are emerging 
vehicles for bringing together health and care services for defined populations in a 
more integrated way. They aim to deliver improved access to local services for their 
whole population, greater continuity of care for those with ongoing conditions and 
more coordinated care for those with the most complex needs. 

Page 50



Page 12 of 58

This work is consistent with the process of transitioning to an ICS, built on 
accountable care organisations providing more effective services to defined 
populations for the long term. 

Each ‘place’ has its own plan, but each plan is drawn from the same central 
principle. This will bring health, social care and voluntary sector organisations 
together, to achieve improved health and wellbeing. This will deliver models of 
care that are tailored to their populations, but which also benefit from working 
alongside each other as part of a system as described in figure 4. In Wolverhampton, 
this has been defined as an Integrated Care Alliance (ICA).

Figure 4: Place-based care in the BCWB STP

Wolverhampton Integrated Care Provision

The Wolverhampton ICA focuses on Wolverhampton working as a system rather 
than through independent processes. The strategy is clinically led, managerially 
supported and patient centred. There is a shared governance system across the 
alliance stakeholders which provides system leadership and who are mutually 
accountable for delivery. 

Page 51



Page 13 of 58

The ICA will shift resources from hospital to out-of-hospital services so that 
more people are supported proactively in their home and communities. It will 
focus on health, developing our approach to health promotion and disease 
prevention to support the wellbeing of our communities alongside the care that we 
already provide. 

A key feature of the ICA is an integrated data system where all parties can 
access data to support the patient’s pathway. This reduces delay, encourages 
cooperation and supports integrated working. 

The ICA must be financially sustainable, making the best use of the resources 
that we have collectively. This will mean amending the current funding flows as they 
do not always incentivise best practice. 

The ICA has a number of key aims that are guiding its programme: 

 To modernise and support ALL primary care to improve care quality and 
financial sustainability; 

 To redesign our local NHS system by removing barriers that act against 
integrated care, to support strategic commissioning; 

 To redistribute risk in a better a way across the system; 
 Improve population health outcomes in partnership with the commissioner’s 

mental health services, social care services, public health and the voluntary 
sector; 

 To improve co-ordination of services and move care out of hospital where 
appropriate- Integrated user focussed care delivery; 

 Facilitate networked solutions for hospital services where there is opportunity 
to improve care quality and financial sustainability. 

Four clinical priorities have been identified for the ICA for 2019/20. For each of these 
clinicians from across local providers have determined areas of focus:

Children and Young People’s Services

 Development of the Wolverhampton ‘Big 6’ (six most common 
conditions/symptoms that can cause children and young people to present for 
emergency and urgent care);

 Implementation of the standards in ‘Facing the Future – Together for Child 
Health’;

 Shift in activity from secondary care to community (care closer to home)
 Joint specialist and generalist clinics;

Page 52



Page 14 of 58

 Targeted care for vulnerable groups (CAMHS, SEND, etc.);
 Co-design of services with parents/carers.

Mental Health

 IAPT;
 Long Term Condition IAPT;
 Dementia;
 Mental health and the cross over with physical health;
 Implementation of the Wolverhampton Mental Health Strategy (see section 

5.4).

End-of-life

 Care coordination;
 Advance care planning;
 Targeted engagement with the public;
 Raising awareness of death and dying;
 Community model of palliative and end of life care;
 Developing a workforce fit for purpose;
 Targeted care for vulnerable groups (learning disability, dementia, etc).

Frailty

 Designing targeted services for the different cohorts of patients classified as 
living with frailty;

 Standardising identification and assessment across the pathways;
 Integrating pathways of care to improve patient experience and care;
 Developing a workforce fit for purpose;

ICA working groups have also been established to consider:

 Information governance
 Contracting and finance
 Outcomes development

Primary Care networks

Within the ICA are four PCNs – a central feature of health systems as set out in the 
LTP. These are formally recognised networks of GPs, each serving between c. 
55,000-95,000 patients in Wolverhampton. PCNs represent the building blocks of 

Page 53



Page 15 of 58

place-based models of care and are the key to preserving the integrity of NHS 
service provision going forward.

For our service users, patients and carers, PCNs will bring: 

 Access to a wider range of professionals than may have been available in 
individual practices enabled by a shared patient record;

 Improved/shorter waiting times that are focused around the access needs of 
those using services including extended GP hours;

 Improved access to a wider range of services and support through use of the 
resources and partners within the PCN;

 Using the wider access to professionals and services, provide a focus on 
increasing access to care locally (place-based care) and avoiding admission 
avoidance and hospital attendance where possible. 

In 2019/20 service and pathway integration will reach beyond primary care to 
include other health and care services, building on work carried out during the 
previous year. This will include district nursing, pharmacy, social workers, 
community psychiatric nursing, social prescribing, housing and a range of other roles 
to support patients’ care in their own communities, organised in Integrated 
Community Teams (see section 5.6). Figure 5 describes some of the services that 
will be wrapped-around PCNs.

Page 54



Page 16 of 58

Figure 5: High level mode for PCNs in Wolverhampton STP/ICA

The PCN model is being developed across the STP as per the requirements in the 
LTP.

4.2 Financial sustainability 

Several priorities and actions have been defined for the CCG in 2019/20 in order to 
ensure financial sustainability and contribute to delivering financial balance across 
the NHS. These refer directly to our stated priorities to:

 continue to commission high quality, safe healthcare services within our 
budget; and

 ensure our services are cost effective and sustainable.  

1. Deliver CCG organisational control total to support local system financial 
control totals.

 Long term financial model in place to deliver control totals during lifetime of plan;
 Contracts in place from March 2019 with providers based on financial plans;

Page 55



Page 17 of 58

 QIPP plans in place and agreed in contracts with providers;
 Ensure CCG does not exceed management cost allowance and plan to achieve 

20% real terms reduction by 2020/21;
 Deliver efficiency ask of 1.1% per year.

2. Implement local STP plans to moderate demand growth and increase 
provider efficiencies

 Financial plans aligned with STP plans and assumptions;
 Local delivery plans aligned with STP priorities;
 Work to simplified CQUIN scheme indicators as defined in upcoming guidance.

3. Implementing demand reduction measures to support financial 
sustainability.

 Reduce variation in spend and outcomes, utilising RightCare opportunities;
 Develop options for elective care redesign;
 Urgent and emergency care reform;
 Implementation of ‘Place’ strategy;
 New pathways and services that support self-care and prevention;
 Medicines optimisation;
 Improving the management of continuing healthcare processes.

4. Enhanced investment in out-of-hospital care

 Increase investment in mental health services in-line with MHIS, including 
Children and Young People (CYP) mental health services;

 Commit recurrent funding to developing and maintaining primary care networks; 
 Shift funding from acute to community services in support of the ICA.

5. Meeting our 2019/20 Operating Plan Requirements

We are developing a commissioning for outcomes framework that will be 
implemented during 2019/20. The following sections detail the clinical priorities in 
key service areas for the STP and then locally for the CCG to demonstrate where 
they are most closely aligned. Local commissioning priorities will also form part of 
the activity happening at the ICA level described above. The purpose is to 

Page 56



Page 18 of 58

demonstrate how plans for 2019/20 respond to local need, whilst also transitioning to 
the healthcare systems laid out in the LTP. 

5.1 Urgent and Emergency Care

Summary

Patients in the Black Country will benefit from both localised and system-wide 
approaches to Urgent and Emergency Care (UEC). The CCG, during 2019/20, is 
focused on working in partnership across the STP to avoid unnecessary hospital 
admissions and ensure care is provided in the right place, at the right time, 
particularly with regards to frailty. The CCG is developing an Urgent and Emergency 
Care Strategy during 2019/20 which will identify and address both identified local 
need and opportunities for commissioning services at a STP level, supporting the  
system priorities outlined below. 

Urgent and emergency care at the STP level

At the STP level, the scope of the clinical priorities has been informed by the Five 
Year Forward View and includes:

 Reducing attendance/admission
 Urgent Treatment Centre (UTC) specification
 Emergency general surgery
 Trauma/ITU provision
 Emergency elective split

The vision for UEC at the STP level is to sustainability meet the urgent and 
emergency care needs of local people through the development and delivery 
of a comprehensive and integrated care services. The triple aim opportunities for 
UEC have been identified as:

 Better Health - Addressing societal and lifestyle issues that drive poor health 
outcomes;

 Better Care - Increase access to primary care to free up the time of specialist 
UEC clinicians to service serious or life-threatening cases; and

 Better Value - Stem the growth of people using UEC, providing a more joined 
up and consistent service.

Two early priorities have been defined to deliver against these opportunities in 
2019/20:

Page 57



Page 19 of 58

 The development of primary care to offer 7-day access and multidisciplinary 
care through PCNs;

 Place-based integration with local authorities to further reduce delayed 
transfers of care.

We will continue to work in partnership with CCGs across the STP and Urgent and 
Emergency Care Network to identify how the Clinical Assessment Service (CAS) 
could be enhanced to support admissions avoidance. 

Urgent and emergency care services in Wolverhampton

The CCG is working in collaboration with Royal Wolverhampton Trust (RWT) 
clinicians to ensure the reduction of avoidable admissions through the establishment 
of an acute frailty service, which is one of the key components of the frail elderly 
pathway which entails cross-boundary and multi-agency working to support:

 healthy living/ageing well
 proactive care
 assess to admit
 frail elderly Emergency Department team
 acute admission under geriatrician
 discharge to assess
 comprehensive reablement. 

Further work will take place during 2019/20 to ensure that clinical pathways are well 
developed and that the appropriate workforce is in place to ensure that patients are 
being assessed, treated and supported by skilled multidisciplinary teams. 

Other key priorities for 2019/20 include:

 The CCG will develop its Urgent and Emergency Care Strategy during 
2019/20 which will identify and address both identified local need and 
opportunities for commissioning services at a STP level and will help inform 
the future model of care we wish to commission;

 The CCG will continue to work towards delivering Delayed Transfer of Care 
(DToC) targets and will continue to reduce bed occupancy by long stay 
patients;

 The CCG will continue to review the Directory of Services (DOS) to ensure 
that information and profiling reflects locally commissioned services and 
supports the ‘right place, first time’ approach;

Page 58



Page 20 of 58

 The CCG will ensure that the accreditation of UTCs is in place by December 
2019;

 We will continue to build links with key partners such as West Midlands 
Ambulance Service (WMAS) to identify how activity could be diverted into 
existing admission avoidance commissioned services in the community such 
as the Rapid Response Team and identify where there may be gaps in 
provision;

 We will work with the integrated Urgent Care Alliance and WMAS to pilot 
‘intelligent conveyance’ across the West Midland including the Black Country. 
The intended outcomes are to improve integration across systems, 
collaborative working, that would support improved 4 hour performance, better 
patient flow, better management of capacity and improved hospital handover 
through immediate identification of pressures;  

 Improve GP access in primary care for urgent appointments and continue 
work between RWT and our GP-led UTC to build on the work already in place 
with the joint integrated triage. This will deliver a consistent reduction in 
conveyance rates to bring Wolverhampton health economy in line with the 
rest of the Black Country and see increased numbers diverted to the UTC, 
see and treat and discharge at triage. A working group has been established 
to review ambulance conveyances and consider methods for reduction;

 Improve A&E Access Standards by playing a key leadership role in the local 
A&E Board to support delivery of a programme of work to address locally 
identified areas of pressure. Key nationally mandated deliverables for this 
work include:

o streaming at A&E to ensure patients are seen by the appropriate 
clinician

o transfer of NHS 111 calls to clinicians
o ambulance response times
o improving patient flow and discharge 

 The CCG will review its High Intensity User (HIU) support offer for demand 
management in UEC. This has a CQUIN place and a mental health nurse in 
support. 

Each of these activities will contribute towards the triple aims for UEC 
identified by the STP.

Page 59



Page 21 of 58

5.2 Referral to Treatment Times and Elective Care

Summary

Patients in the Black Country will benefit from both localised and system-wide 
approaches to RTT and elective care. The CCG, during 2019/20, is focused on 
ensuring access to elective care is within national targets, opportunities for delivering 
care closer to home are utilised and unnecessary referrals are reduced. Working 
with partners across Wolverhampton will be integral to this and this activity will 
support the clinical priorities set by the STP outlined below. 

Referral to treatment times and elective care at the STP level

The STP have determined the following clinical priorities around elective care:

Interventional Radiology: Patients will have access to a service that will deliver 
high quality clinical outcomes. Early intervention and quicker access to services will 
improve outcomes and offer better value.

Pathology: Delivering prompt diagnostic and clinical intelligence in cost effective 
and efficient organisations. Provide earlier intervention to prevent disease 
progression and promote lifestyle changes and deliver more standardisation and 
efficiency across the service.

Musculoskeletal (MSK) Conditions: Patients will have good outcomes, high quality 
of care and experience efficiency in service delivery. Referral processes will be 
streamlined and waiting times reduced through reduction in unnecessary referrals 
and avoiding secondary care follow ups where unwarranted. 

Respiratory: Mortality rates will be reduced below the England average and patients 
will be able to access consultants through outreach in the community. Detection and 
prevention through lifestyles interventions will improve outcomes and reduce spend 
on respiratory related conditions. 

Maternity and Neonates: Maternity pathway will involve women and those close to 
them in making the right choices for them to give birth in a safe and caring 
environment. Reducing rates of stillbirths, neonatal death, maternal death and brain 
injury during birth and engaged with the Maternity and Neonatal Health Safety 
Collaborative. 

Page 60



Page 22 of 58

Referral to treatment times and elective care in Wolverhampton

In Wolverhampton, we will deliver services in 2019/20 to ensure delivery against the 
NHS Constitution standard that more than 92% of patients on non-emergency 
pathways wait no more than 18 weeks from referral to treatment. To do this we will 
streamline elective care pathways and, where required, robustly performance 
manage our providers using contractual levers where necessary to achieve 
performance standards. The CCG will continue active monitoring of very long waits 
(over 52 weeks) to ensure each case is investigated with the Trust responsible and 
resolution plans agreed. In addition to managing contracts as 'lead commissioner' 
the CCG also actively works collaboratively with other lead commissioners where we 
are associates, to understand any waiting time challenges, the core issues and 
remedial actions. 

Also during 2019/20 the CCG will implement our demand management plan aimed 
at reducing avoidable hospital referrals and ensuring patients receive the right care, 
at the right time, in the right setting. Schemes continuing into 2019/20 include:

 Targeted peer review of referrals by GP practices;
 Access to expert advice and guidance in primary care;
 Out-of-hospital care for the most common conditions (MSK, and 

Ophthalmology);
 A GP Education and Training Programme;
 Implementation of commissioning policy to restrict procedures of limited 

clinical value. 

During 2019/20 work will continue to embed MSK best practice pathways and 
improve surgical conversion rates, redesign dermatology services, enhance primary 
care eye care services and continue clinical evidence reviews of procedures of 
limited clinical value. The CCG will be seeking to establish a Joint Elective Care 
Programme Board with our local Trust, to transform and redesign elective care 
services in partnership. 

5.3 Cancer Treatment

Summary

Patients in the Black Country will benefit from both localised and system-wide 
approaches to cancer. The CCG, during 2019/20, is focused on improving early 
diagnosis, compliance with national waiting targets and patient experience. Working 

Page 61



Page 23 of 58

with partners across Wolverhampton will be integral to this and will support the 
clinical priorities set by the STP outlined below. 

Cancer services at the STP level

The STP has described a vision for cancer services that are in the top quartile for 
prevention, early diagnosis and treatment. This has informed the triple aim 
opportunities of:

 Better Health: Taking concerted action to address some of the 
environmental, societal and lifestyle issues that drive poor health outcomes;

 Better Care: Our key opportunities are targeted interventions to improve the 
uptake of cancer screening; implement the national faster [28 day] diagnosis 
pathways; deliver Living With and Beyond Cancer; and

 Better Value: Taking actions to increase screening uptake and earlier 
diagnosis should not only save lives but reduce costs for unplanned cancer 
care.

Early priorities to deliver this work are to:

 Achieve the 62-day waiting time standard
 Implement early diagnosis
 Improve the patient experience
 Review opportunities for collaboration between Walsall and Wolverhampton 

cancer units.

Cancer services in Wolverhampton

The number of people diagnosed and living with cancer each year will continue to 
grow rapidly. The primary reasons for this are our ageing population and our success 
in increasing survival rates. This will place significant additional demand on our 
health and social care services. 

Together with City of Wolverhampton Council (CWC), we have drafted a five-year 
Wolverhampton Cancer Strategy to be initiated in 2019.  This strategy sets out our 
local ambition to improve cancer outcomes in Wolverhampton so that by 2024:

 fewer people are being diagnosed with preventable cancer;
 more people survive for longer after a diagnosis;
 more people have a positive experience of care and support; and
 More people enjoy a better long-term quality of life.

Page 62



Page 24 of 58

We will achieve this by a greater focus on prevention, earlier detection and improved 
treatment. Critically, we will focus on improving health and wellbeing across all the 
areas but also significantly reducing inequalities and variations in outcomes between 
local areas and between different population groups. Local cancer incidence data 
indicates that here is a correlation between deprivation, age, lifestyle and cancer 
incidence.  Screening data also highlights that in areas of low deprivation and a high 
BME population there is a low take up of screening services.  

Part of our commitment to early detection is to improve our performance in terms of 
emergency diagnoses. Table 3 shows Wolverhampton’s performance in this area 
compared to the national picture.

Table 3: Emergency presentation data

Cancer screening provides an opportunity to diagnose cancer at an earlier stage 
before signs and symptoms have developed and when treatment may be less 
complex and outcomes better. There are three cancer national screening 
programmes (Breast, Bowel and Cervical) and Wolverhampton has a lower take-up 
than the national average in all three. Increasing take-up of screening programmes 
will therefore be an important part of our activity in 2019/20 through:

 Working collaboratively with Public Health England, Bowel Cancer Screening 
Hub, Breast Screening Service and Cancer Research UK (CRUK) to develop 
robust plans to support GP Practices, Healthy Living Pharmacies and the wider 
community to increase cancer screening uptake;

 Working collaboratively with other primary care staff including Healthy Living 
pharmacy staff care navigators and practice cancer champions; and

 Delivering targeted education events.

Three priorities have been defined for cancer services in Wolverhampton 
which will be achieved through eight key actions (figure 6). These support the 
delivery of National Cancer Standards and West Midlands Cancer Alliance 

Page 63



Page 25 of 58

priorities and are aligned with the STP and national cancer priorities (appendix 
B).

Priority 1: Reduce the growth in the number of new cancers

Key Action: 

 Promote, encourage and empower people to adopt healthier lifestyles

Priority 2: Improve survival of people diagnosed with cancer in 
Wolverhampton

Key Actions: 

 Increase diagnosis through screening programmes before signs and symptoms 
appear

 Empower patients to present early with cancer signs and symptom
 Support primary care to manage patients in accordance with best practice
 Ensure prompt access to diagnostic tests and referral pathways

Priority 3: Improve the quality of life of patients after treatment (access to the 
Recovery Package and other support) 

Key Actions:

 Provide individualised care and support to cancer patients
 Reduce risks and improve long term outcomes amongst those diagnosed with 

cancer
 Monitor progress and performance of the strategic aims

Figure 6: Wolverhampton Cancer Strategy priorities and actions

Year one priorities:

This is a five-year strategy so it will be necessary to focus on improving identified 
areas in 19/20 to support the delivery of future years. These priorities for year one 
will be:

 Develop robust QOF+ to support the increase in screening uptake and early 
diagnosis / develop robust communication and promotion plan; 

 Improve cancer waiting time standard 62-day RTT and review root cause 
analysis;

Page 64



Page 26 of 58

 Support the implementation of nationally agreed rapid assessment and 
diagnostic pathways for lung, prostate and colorectal cancers; Cancer 
Alliance priority to include Upper Gastrointestinal cancers;

 Improve patient experience and quality of life outcomes / continue with patient 
engagement ;

 Further develop and implement Risk Stratified follow-up pathways for breast 
cancer;

 Continue 104-day harm review to identify any physical or psychological harm 
to patients;

 Continue to deliver 28-day target;
 Monitor performance and capacity;
 Continue dialogue across cancer teams.

5.4 Mental Health

Summary

Patients in the Black Country will benefit from both localised and system-wide 
approaches to mental health services. The CCG, during 2019/20, is focused on 
delivering against its mental health commissioning strategy which has a stated 
intention to deliver a Mental Health Integrated Care System and close gaps in 
service provision across our footprint, working with partners to support the clinical 
priorities set by the STP outlined below. 

Mental health services at the STP level

The STP has described a vision for mental health services that provide patients with 
access to universal and specialist mental health and mental wellbeing 
initiatives that improve the quality of life chances and opportunities. This has 
informed the triple aim opportunities of:

 Better Health: Improved access to universal and specialist mental health and 
mental wellbeing initiatives, with increased focus upon prevention and early 
intervention at key moments in life, reducing levels of complexity and 
chronicity including physical health and improving the quality of life chances 
and opportunities;

 Better Care: Improved access to integrated health and social care initiatives 
including focus on primary care mental wellbeing and the wider determinants 
of mental ill health in individuals, families and communities; 

Page 65



Page 27 of 58

 Better Value: Transformed outcomes, experience and reduced demand on 
mental and physical health secondary and tertiary services. Releasing savings 
through reductions in inappropriate out of area placements.

Early priorities to deliver this vision have been defined as:

 Identify services that will benefit from being jointly commissioned at the STP 
level;

 Deliver against the STP Mental Health ‘One Commissioner’ project on a page.

Mental health services in Wolverhampton

The table below shows the number of people affected by mental health problems 

based on Wolverhampton’s 2011 census total population of 248,470, of whom adults 

are 186,508.

Prevalence Wolverhampton
Number of people at risk of mental health 
problem 250/1,000 46,627
Of those at risk attending GP

230/1,000 42, 897
Subsequently diagnosed as having mental 
health problem 130/1,000 24,246
Referred to Specialist Mental Health Service

20-30/1,000 5,595
Admitted to Mental Health Hospital

<10/1,000 1865
Table 4: Prevalence of mental health problems in Wolverhampton

We have worked with services users and carers to develop an outcomes-based 
system of care with an agreed and cohesive set of values which includes:

 Responsiveness kindness and compassion – being helpful, making every 
contact count;

 Professionalism, effectiveness and accountability, seamlessness;
 Self-efficacy, learning, growth, self-expansion and recovery;
 Supporting personal aspirations, hopes, dreams, goals and purpose including 

a focus on practical things – housing benefits employability. 

We have recently developed a new Mental Health Commissioning Strategy (MHCS) 
that outlines our seven priorities: 

Page 66



Page 28 of 58

Priority Detail
1. Closing the treatment gap Improving access to evidence-based 

quality services and improving access 
to and responsiveness of services 
including referral to treatment and 
waiting times

2. Closing the data quality gap Improving Data Quality
3. Closing the mortality gap Integration of mental and physical 

health
4. Closing the parity of esteem / 

funding gap
Maintaining the CCG’s commitment to 
Mental Health Investment Standard

5. Closing the early intervention and 
prevention gap

Improving the Wider Determinants of 
Mental Health

6. Closing the information gap. Delivering an information revolution - 
working with all key stakeholders to 
ensure that together we have a joined-
up approach to information sharing, 
advice and guidance, navigation, 
communication, marketing and 
engagement

7. Closing the workforce gap.  Delivering a workforce plan in line with 
Stepping Forward to 2020 to develop 
capacity and capability across our 
services

Table 5: WCCG Mental Health Priorities 

The 15 goals of our MHCS outline our implementation plan of service re-design 
across universal, primary, secondary and tertiary services, including commissioning 
of a new service model for mental health and dementia community and in-patient 
services across mental health urgent and planned care. This includes our work with 
local authority and provider colleagues as part of the Better Care Fund (BCF: see 
section 5.6) to ensure we deliver early intervention and prevention across the life 
span, pro-active support at times of crisis and ill health and on-going support to 
deliver admission avoidance, helping people to stay well and achieve and maintain 
personalised recovery.  

This MHCS describes our plans to develop our Mental Health Integrated Care 
System and close gaps in service provision across our footprint, working with 
partners across our STP to deliver evidence-based services of critical mass and at 
scale and pace delivering value for money and avoiding unnecessary duplication of 
costs. Further evidence of alignment between national, STP and local planning 
around mental health is described in appendix C.

Page 67



Page 29 of 58

5.5 Adult Learning Disabilities and Autism

Summary

People with LD and/or autism in the Black Country will benefit from both localised 
and system-wide approaches to LD and autism services. The CCG, during 2019/20, 
is focused on providing support and services that increase the opportunities for 
people to live valued lives in their communities, as well as sharing best practice and 
learning across health and care as to working with patients with LD and/or autism. 
Working with partners across Wolverhampton is integral to this and this activity will 
support the clinical priorities set by the STP outlined below. 

Learning disability and autism services at the STP level

The vision for services in the STP is for those with learning disability and/or 
autism to be seen as citizens with rights, who should expect to lead active 
lives in the community. The triple aim opportunities to support this include:

 Better Health: The Transforming Care Partnerships (TCP) programme will 
result in people with a learning disability and/or autism seen as citizens with 
rights, who should expect to lead active lives in the community;

 Better Care: The TCP programme will improve the quality of life for people 
with a learning disability and/or autism. The right specialist community 
services will be in place to allow service users to benefit from maintaining 
links with their local support network and family;

 Better Value: The reduced reliance on bed-based care, reduced A&E 
attendances, fewer inpatient admissions and fewer delayed discharges of 
care will release costs; expensive out of area placements can be reduced.

Early priorities to deliver this vision have been defined as:

 Reduce premature mortality by improving emergency department education 
and training of staff, and by making necessary reasonable adjustments for 
people with a learning disability and/or autism; 

 Share learning across emergency departments and maximise the use of out-
of-hospital interventions to provide alternatives to emergency attendance.

Page 68



Page 30 of 58

Learning disability and autism services in Wolverhampton

Our vision remains to support citizens with learning disabilities to be equal 
citizens, leading valued, healthy lives as contributing members of their local 
communities.

We will continue to implement our ambitious plans to transform care and support for 
people with learning disabilities by delivering our Transforming Care Delivery Plan, 
developed across the Black Country, and in response to the national plan: Building 
the Right Support. 

Building on learning from Wolverhampton’s Intensive Support Service (ISS), in 
2018/19 we have commissioned Intensive Support across the Black Country, 
with extended hours of operation, and planned weekend working.  We have 
also commissioned a specialist health forensic learning disability team across the 
Black Country, and this new service is working in partnership with Wolverhampton’s 
dedicated learning disability forensic social work team to ensure that care and 
treatment delivers good outcomes and works to clear timescales. 

We have also developed a forensic Supported Living Framework (SLF) to support 
the timely discharge of citizens with forensic needs into highly specialist 
community placements.  These new services will be reviewed in 2019/20 in order 
to further develop them and ensure that they are meeting needs effectively. 

We will continue to develop our Transforming Care Quality Dashboard (TCQD) by 
rolling out recently developed citizen questionnaires, a quarterly self-assessment tool 
for both community and inpatient providers, and by using data and system 
intelligence to support us to improve the quality, safety and effectiveness of 
services, and improve both citizen experience and outcomes. The principles of 
stopping the over medication of people with a learning disability, autism or both 
(STOMP) will be fully embedded and reflected in this dashboard, with careful 
monitoring of medication, a clear emphasis on reducing restrictive practices and 
developing a workforce which has positive behaviour support as its ethos. 

We will review and re-specify the specialist health community learning 
disability teams in 2019, with a revised agreed specification across the Black 
Country in order to deliver consistent, evidence-based care and support. 

We will use the recently developed risk registers and enhanced multi-disciplinary 
working to plan robust care and support with people with learning disabilities 
who are at risk of coming into hospital, or coming into contact with the 

Page 69



Page 31 of 58

criminal justice system, with strong Care and Treatment Reviews supporting 
decision-making and planning. 

We will continue to place emphasis on designing individual solutions, and 
creatively meeting needs, and will enable more people to take control of their care 
through using personal health budgets in order to achieve this (see section 8). 
Increasing the number of annual health checks completed, and reviewing their 
quality and effectiveness are key actions in 2019, in addition to continuing to embed 
and learn from the Learning Disabilities Mortality Review (LeDeR) programme 
through membership of the steering group and quality and consistent planning 
around LeDeR reviews.

We will work with our NHS providers to ensure that they have robust plans in 
place to deliver awareness raising with their workforce, agree how the impact of 
this will be evaluated, and how such awareness raising could be shared more widely. 
We will continue to support work between our acute provider, primary care and 
specialist health to ensure that people with learning disabilities have the opportunity 
to have a digital flag in their patient record to alert clinicians to high risk clinical or 
behavioural issues to help them to support their care through reasonable 
adjustments.

Further evidence of alignment between national, system and local planning for 
learning disability and autism services can be found in appendix D.

5.6 Primary Care and Community Health Services

Summary

Patients in the Black Country will benefit from both localised and system-wide 
approaches to primary care and community services. The CCG, during 2019/20, is 
focused on developing our PCNs, wrapping community services, mental health 
services and social care around them to provide the populations they serve with a 
holistic model of care to ensure they receive the right care quickly and help them 
stay closer to home. Working with partners across Wolverhampton is integral to this 
and this activity will support the clinical priorities set by the STP outlined below. 

Primary and community care at the STP level

The vision for primary care in the STP is for patients to have access to resilient, 
accessible primary care. The triple aim opportunities for primary care identified in 
the STP clinical strategy are:

Page 70



Page 32 of 58

 Better Health: Involving GPs in commissioning discussions and decision 
making enables new approaches to prevention and management of ill health 
for our population;

 Better Care: Networks supporting local populations will allow the provision of 
personal care. Move from disease management alone, towards prevention, 
wellbeing and self-care, optimising patient outcomes; 

 Better Value: Rebalancing the investment between primary and secondary 
care providers makes sense as optimising the use of out of hospital services 
averts the current waste.

Early priorities to deliver this vision have been identified as:

 Develop and deliver a collective STP programme of work that fulfils the 
requirements of the GP Forward View;

 Have dedicated resource to implement the programme;
 Work with national bodies to ensure available funding is accessed and 

deployed across the STP;
 Continued engagement with general practice;
 Continue to implement the STP workforce strategy to support sustainability 

within primary care;

Primary and community care in Wolverhampton

The LTP confirmed a £4.5 million uplift to primary medical and community health 
services, placing key responsibilities on PCNs to improve out-of-hospital care.

As a CCG, we want to design and commission primary and community care services 
that:

 Reduce hospital admissions and provide more care closer to home through 
community-based services, improving coordination and access;

 Give us more responsibility for GP services;
 Focus on preventing illnesses, working with public health to look at lifestyle 

factors that increase the risk of ill-health;
 Give patients better access to GPs as well and innovate to reduce pressures on 

GPs; and
 Deliver seamless health and social care through closer collaboration with the City 

of Wolverhampton Council.

Page 71



Page 33 of 58

Primary Care Strategy

We implemented a five-year primary health care strategy in 2016 that stated as its 
vision to achieve high quality out of hospital care which is accessible to 
everyone.8 This will, in turn, promote the health and wellbeing of our local 
community. We want to ensure that the right treatment is available in the right 
place at the right time and to improve the quality of life of those living with 
long term conditions and reduce health inequalities.

This strategy will be refreshed in 2019/20 to reflect the activity described in this 
section.

Governance arrangements

In Wolverhampton our GP Practices have split into four different groups to help us 
shape primary and community services for the future. A group of eight practices 
have joined with our local NHS Trust, RWT, as part of a vertical integration 
programme. Part of vertical integration is a greater level of back office support which 
will take care of the business element of general practice. All staff, including the GPs 
of these practices, have become employees of RWT. All other practices in 
Wolverhampton are aligned to three further groups. These groups are Unity Limited, 
Wolverhampton Total Health and Wolverhampton Care Collaborative. Each group is 
a limited company and are working towards the principles of the Primary Care Home 
Model (NAPC).9

This approach enables access to services to improve whilst practices work together 
to share their workforce and become more resilient in the services they deliver. This 
means that patients may access services through practice group hubs and shared 
teams across practices. The introduction of care hubs will help to increase access as 
well as co-ordinate care so that, where possible, care can be given closer to home 
and in a community setting. 

The CCG is committed to supporting each model of care to help streamline 
patient pathways, deliver more care in the community and aid the development 
of the ICA. 

Primary Care Investment

8 WCCG, Annual Report 2017/18. 
9 http://napc.co.uk/primary-care-home/

Page 72



Page 34 of 58

In addition to the £3 per head invested during 2017/18 and 2018/19, the CCG has 
committed £500,000 each year into the support, mentoring and training of practices, 
as well as engagement and development of our PCNs. Support and development of 
at-scale working and provision of services and other funding from both local budgets 
and national funding streams have enabled leadership and development training to 
be made available to practice teams and staff groups to allow their skills and 
competence to be further developed and strengthened.

In 2019/20 and 2020/21 the CCG will fund £1.50 per patient in line with the national 
Directed Enhanced Services (DES) to enable PCNs to flourish.

Primary Care Network Development

The integration of out-of-hospital services is central to our ambitions for 2019/20, 
reflected by the co-dependency of primary and community care in this operating 
plan. The main priorities for community services for the coming year are highlighted 
in figure 7.

Priority 1 – Wrapping community services around PCNs

There is currently one co-located community team in Wolverhampton with social 
care, community and district nursing, mental health, social prescribing and housing. 
We will be looking to deliver two more in 19/20 to address wider determinants of 
health. These teams will become more closely aligned with PCNs.

Priority 2 - Delivering an appropriate Multi-disciplinary Team (MDT) model for 
Wolverhampton

We are presently running pilot schemes for MDTs at selected sites in 
Wolverhampton. Based on the learning from these pilots, a model for MDT working 
will be rolled out across the PCNs.  QOF+ funding will be used to support this. 

Priority 3 – Shifting services out of hospital into community settings

During 19/20, services that can be appropriately shifted from hospitals into 
community settings will be identified and business cases for the change developed 
with a view to first significant shifts in 2020/21.

Priority 4 – Support delivery of ICA priority clinical pathways

Four pathways have been prioritised for 2019/20: frailty, end-of-life, children and 
young people and mental health.

Figure 7: Community Care priorities for WCCG 2019/20

Page 73



Page 35 of 58

As part of our activities around integration of services we will be reviewing which 
CCG activities might be better delivered at the STP level. During 19/20 the following 
areas of work will be considered as opportunities for working at scale:

 QOF
 Digital technology
 Progress against the 10 High Impact Actions10

 Supporting people living with long-term conditions to self-care
 Accessibility of primary care including:

o Extended access
o GP capacity
o Communications
o Inequalities

Further evidence of alignment between national, system and local planning for 
primary care and community services can be found in appendix E with the 
note that the local strategy is being refreshed in 2019/20.

Better Care Fund

The BCF provides an opportunity to develop a single pooled budget to allow health 
and social care services to work together more closely. Wolverhampton’s Better 
Care Plans are an integral and important component of our vision for services in 
Wolverhampton. 

The CCG will continue to work together with partners in an integrated way, aiming to 
improve pathways and services for patients, moving care closer to home where 
appropriate.

The BCF’s vision statement is to: 

‘Provide individuals and families in Wolverhampton with the services, methods 
and knowledge to help them to live longer, healthier and more independent 
lives no matter where they live in the city. Health & Social Care colleagues will 
work better together, alongside local community organisations to deliver 
support closer to where individuals and families live and in line with their 
needs.’

There are five workstreams within the programme:

 Adult Community Care

10 https://www.england.nhs.uk/gp/gpfv/redesign/gpdp/

Page 74



Page 36 of 58

 Mental Health
 Dementia
 CAMHS
 Integration

Within these workstreams are a number of projects that will be delivered during 
2019/20:

Adult Community Care

 Continued implementation of People Living with Frailty Programme;
 Continued review and redesign of community services programme;
 Managing transfers of care and reducing length of stay;
 Development of community neighbourhood teams including co-location of 

remaining two localities and expansion of MDT working;
 Admission avoidance programme.

Mental Health

 Implement new community pathways/services based on gap analysis of 
existing services (including prevention);

 Implement integrated models for mental health.

Dementia

 Review and refresh of joint dementia strategy;
 Implementation of dementia strategy.

CAMHS

 Workforce development to be continued; 
 Mapping of all services available to CYP for emotional mental health and 

wellbeing, giving consideration to all commissioned services by both NHS and 
Local Authority;  

 Introduction of a pilot for self-referrals for parents of all CYP and those aged 
14+ to begin in Oct 2019.

Integration

 Continued delivery of integrated health and social care record;
 Continued review and development of Data Sharing Agreements across BCF;
 Joint communications and engagement activity;
 Manage any estates requirements of the programme;
 Oversight of finance and performance of the programme.

Page 75



Page 37 of 58

5.7 Children and Young People’s Services

Summary

Patients in the Black Country will benefit from both localised and system-wide 
approaches to CYP services. The CCG, during 2019/20, is focused on developing 
services for CYP specifically relating to maternity and neonatal, mental health, 
learning disability and/or autism services, as well as avoiding unnecessary hospital 
admissions and keeping care closer to home. Working with partners across 
Wolverhampton is integral to this and this activity will support the clinical priorities set 
by the STP outlined below. 

Children and young people’s services at the STP level

The STP has set out a vision for CYP services that they are in good physical and 
mental health, enabling them to become independent and productive members 
of our society. The triple aim opportunities have been identified as:

 Better Health: To ensure that CYP in the Black Country are in good physical 
and mental health;

 Better Care: CYP receive care as close to home and their social networks as 
possible; and

 Better Value: Maximise opportunities for high value interventions such as 
prevention and proactive care and disinvest in low value interventions such as 
reactive care in an emergency.

Early priorities to deliver this vision have been identified as:

 Invest in services for CYP;
 Identify good practice across the STP and nationally in relation to CYP 

services with positive outcomes;
 Expand scope of safeguarding across STP. 

Children and young people’s services in Wolverhampton

The LTP has set a clear ambition to improve the mental and physical health of CYP. 
Specifically, the LTP has defined health priorities that require CCG response as:

Maternity and neonatal 
 Improve continuity of care
 Expand roll-out of maternity digital care records

Page 76



Page 38 of 58

 Improve access to perinatal mental health
 Improving access to postnatal physiotherapy
 Redesigning and expanding neonatal critical care services

Mental Health
 Expanding mental health services for CYP
 Improving access to mental health services
 Embedding mental health support in schools and colleges
 Developing support around the transition to adulthood

Learning disability and autism
 Tackling the causes of morbidity and preventable deaths
 Better understanding of the needs of people with learning disabilities or 

autism
 Increasing investment in intensive, crisis and community support
 Improving the quality of inpatient care

CYP with cancer
 Providing children with cancer whole genome sequencing
 Supporting CYP to take part in clinical trials
 Offering boys aged 12 and 13 HPV vaccination

Redesigning other health services for CYP
 Improving childhood immunisation
 Reduce A&E attendance of CYP
 Improving quality of care for children with long-term conditions
 Providing more paediatric critical care and surgical services as close to home 

as possible

We have already set in train services to support CYP and will continue to develop 
our interventions during 2019/20. In particular:

Maternity and Neonatal
 Deliver Better Births: tackle infant mortality, identify foetal growth restriction, 

address reduced foetal movements, collaborative cross boundary working, 
women-centred clinical pathways as directed by NICE;

 Saving Babies’ Lives Care Bundle: objective to halve stillbirth rates, neonatal 
and maternal deaths and brain injuries by 2030, reduce premature mortality 

Page 77



Page 39 of 58

rates, support breast feeding, reduce obesity and diabetes, reduce smoking in 
pregnancy;

 Personalised Care Planning: early contact, improved patient choice, continuity 
of carer, single point of access, single digital patient health record, enhanced 
community engagement;

 Reduce health inequalities: improve experiences and outcomes for groups 
such as migrants, asylum seekers and refugees, deprived communities, 
seldom heard communities.

Mental Health
 Continue to expand mental health services for CYP, resulting in easier access 

with young people over the age of 14 and their parents/carers being able to 
self-refer into services by October 2019; 

 Continue to embed the new emotional mental health and wellbeing service as 
well as the digital online counselling offer across the city;

 The workforce development offer will enable staff working with CYP in schools 
and colleges to have more confidence when supporting them with their mental 
health needs; 

 Continue to ensure that the transition process for CYP from CAMHS to adult 
mental health services is a smooth process and one where they are aware of 
what the expectations of the service will be going forward. 

Learning Disabilities and Autism
 We will participate fully in the LeDeR process to ensure that we understand 

the causes of morbidity and preventable deaths for CYP with learning 
disability and/or autism;  

 Our young people will be supported to ensure that they grow to live as equal 
citizens, leading valued, healthy lives as contributing members of their local 
communities;  

 We will use the recently developed risk registers and enhanced multi-
disciplinary working to plan robust care and support with CYP with learning 
disabilities and /or autism who are at risk of coming into hospital, or coming 
into contact with the criminal justice system, with strong care, education and 
treatment reviews supporting decision-making and planning; 

 A pilot project is currently being run to establish what an intensive support 
service for CYP with autism and/or learning disability may look like which on 
evaluation will help us to develop our long term intensive support services 
offer in the community for this vulnerable group of young people and look to 

Page 78



Page 40 of 58

prevent admission to a Tier 4 mental health hospital or the criminal justice 
system.   

Avoiding hospital admissions and delivering care closer to home
 We will increase the number of immunisations to CYP who have missed or 

were not offered the BCG vaccine at birth, particularly in line with the 
immunisation against infectious diseases guidance;

 We are keen to ensure that CYP are seen in the right place, at the right time 
and by the right people so work is being undertaken to establish what service 
could be commissioned to support reducing the number of CYP who attend 
A&E.  

 Develop work around the ‘Big Six’ which refers to the six most common 
conditions/symptoms that can cause CYP to present for emergency and 
urgent care.  This guide will promote evidence-based assessment and 
management of unwell CYP for the most common conditions when accessing 
local NHS services in an emergency or urgent scenario. There will be a 
development of joint clinics between primary care staff and secondary care 
staff to support care closer to home.  

5.8 Longer term deliverables

The preceding sections have outlined our commissioning plans for 2019/20 across a 
number of areas and themes. In addition to these, reducing health inequalities 
forms part of a long-term objective for the CCG. To this end, we have, with CWC, 
developed a Joint Health and Wellbeing Strategy 2018-202311 that sets out the 
following priorities:

 Early Years
 CYP mental wellbeing and resilience
 Workforce
 City Centre
 Embedding prevention across the system
 Integrated Care; Frailty and End of Life
 Dementia friendly city

11 WCCG and CWC. Wolverhampton Joint Health and Wellbeing Strategy 2018-2023. 2018.

Page 79



Page 41 of 58

The strategy highlights the importance of collaborative working in making a positive 
impact in these areas, and also aligns this work with the Wolverhampton Public 
Health vision for 2030.12

6. Workforce

There are several workforce strategies being implemented by WCCG during the 
course of 2019/20.

Primary care workforce strategy

Our shared vision across the STP is to develop and sustain a workforce built around 
the needs of our population, which has the skills, knowledge and values to transform 
at scale and deliver high quality care within Wolverhampton. Primary Care will be 
delivered across primary care networks, across multidisciplinary integrated 
teams, 7 days per week offering prevention and treatment services to reduce 
demand, integrated with partners and Local Authorities. This vision is supported 
by a primary care workforce strategy that is itself informed by the General Practice 
Forward View.  

Central to the STP programme of work is to introduce the new roles that will lead to 
delivering our PCNs that are central to our own ICA in Wolverhampton, as well as 
provide for additional investment in current staff. Figure 8 provides an example of the 
transformed workforce described by the STP primary care workforce strategy:

12 CWC. The vision for Public Health 2030. Longer, healthier lives. Undated. Available at 
http://www.wolverhampton.gov.uk/CHttpHandler.ashx?id=15370&p=0

Page 80



Page 42 of 58

Figure 8: Primary Care workforce transformation

As a CCG our mission is to lead workforce planning locally, and during 
2019/20 we will make decisions with our partners as to which funding and 
service delivery decisions will be best made at the STP level, and which 
should stay with the CCG.  Wolverhampton CCG will continue to support and 
enable primary care workforce development through new ways of working. Access to 
innovation funding, commissioning and piloting of new roles and building 
relationships with other partners to ensure workforce development are key enablers 
for transformation. We have developed a retention plan and are learning from 
intensive support to recruit and retain GPs and nurses. 

Mental health workforce strategy

Delivering the required workforce to respond to the national mental health workforce 
plan13 is a core component of our MHCS. At a national level, this should include an 
expansion in the capacity and capability of the CYP workforce, building towards 
1,700 new staff and 3,400 existing staff trained to deliver evidence-based 
interventions by 2020/21.

13 HEE. Stepping forward to 2020/21: The mental health workforce plan for England. 2017. Available at 
https://www.basw.co.uk/system/files/resources/basw_62959-3_0.pdf

Page 81



Page 43 of 58

We will also support the development of the next generation of practitioners and 
leaders through continued participation in the Think Ahead programme for social 
workers working in mental health and other areas across the NHS.

Child and adolescent mental health services workforce

Consideration of the workforce required in future CAMHS services forms part of the 
discussion in the Wolverhampton CAMHS Transformation Plan Refresh 2018-2020.
14

The main focus is to contribute to the national plan through the creation of new roles 
which will increase access to services at a much lower level rather than waiting for 
the child/young person to become so ill that they require significant specialist 
intervention.

Staff increases for 2019/20 are planned in the Emotional Mental Health and 
Wellbeing service and Neurodevelopmental service. 

STP Workforce Strategy
The STP are developing a system-wide workforce strategy with the objective of 
recruiting and retaining a workforce that contributes to achieving a sustainable health 
economy. This will continue to be developed and implemented during 2019/20.

7. Data and Technology

We have pursued a strategy to identify and adopt new technologies that can benefit 
patients and staff in the Wolverhampton health economy. We were one of the first 
CCGs to implement GP Remote Consultation for GP Practice groups, which 
supports extended opening hours and the ability of clinicians to hold and record 
consultations with patients from any of the practices within the federated GP Groups. 
The development of online consultation follows the trend of the CCG implementing 
new technologies for patients and builds on the CCG being the first to fully 
implement free NHS patient Wi-Fi .

For the coming year we have a large portfolio of work. This includes: 

 The provision of a texting solution that increases the range of texts that we 
can send to patients while allowing patients to cancel appointments by text; 

14 Available at 
https://wolverhampton.moderngov.co.uk/documents/s87953/Wolverhampton%20CAMHS%20Transformation
%20Plan%20Refresh%202018%20v6.pdf

Page 82



Page 44 of 58

 An ambitious project to migrate to Windows 10 from Windows 7; we aim to 
migrate to the new operating system over the next 18 months, ensuring that 
the migration is complete before Windows 7 goes end of life on 14 January 
2020; 

 We have secured additional funds though the Estates and Technology 
Transformation Fund (ETTF) scheme to continue the development of the 
insight shared care record. This will support the CCG working closely with 
Walsall and the use of EPaCC’s (End of Life Care Plans) across all care 
settings;

 Working with the STP we have successfully bid and received funding to 
upgrade our electronic document management solution (Docman) to the latest 
cloud-based solution;

 Continue to register patients for online services at each GP practice (current 
target 30% coverage);

 The CCG continues to support GP practices through the provision of servers, 
switches, printers, scanners, monitors, laptops and PCs.  This is done on a 
rolling 5-year replacement scheme that ensures that the IT infrastructure 
within the CCG is current and fit for purpose;

 The CCG is embarking on a new network redesign to improve on the old N3 
broadband lines and installing ultra-fast 100mb leased lines to connect the GP 
practices to the network.  This will improve access speeds for clinical systems 
but will also support the development of online triage and video consultations 
through provision increased bandwidth. The ultra-fast network backbone will 
also support practice work across sites in federated groups and support hub 
working; and

 Updated patient auto-arrival solution: the CCG will be looking to improve the 
existing solution to update the software from local isolated media players and 
windows touch screen to hosted central managed cloud estate using Jayex 
Connect.

Local Digital Roadmap

The digital priorities for the CCG are aligned closely with those of the STP, which 
has a stated vision of a digitally connected Black Country Health and Social 
Care System that enables self-care and promotes wellbeing. This vision is 
focused on the following digital themes:

 Empowerment: Through the use of technology there will be patient and 
citizen access and contribution to their health and care records; 

Page 83



Page 45 of 58

 Infrastructure: A resilient infrastructure across the Black Country health and 
social care economy enabling access to required information to support 
decisions from anywhere, aiding place-based working; 

 Integration: Creating opportunities for systems to be interlinked across the 
STP, with the potential for further integration in the future; and

 Intelligence: Development of robust business intelligence across the Black 
Country to support decision making and identification of best practice models 
leading to improved patient care.

One of the key aims underpinning these themes is interoperability. This allows 
for variation in delivery mechanisms for digital technologies across the STP whilst 
ensuring the ability to exchange information; to provide a single consolidated view of 
the patient in the context in which the patient is being viewed, supporting operational 
excellence within our new models of care.

The CCG have been a key driver in the development of the STP SharePoint 
solution that is already used by the STP PMO team, Transferring Care Partnership, 
Joint Commissioning Committee and Local Maternity System team. Plans are in 
place to expand this to the Local Digital Roadmap and other groups in the coming 
year. The development has been made possible by the support of the ETTF funds 
that have supported the online solution for a further 3 years.

NHS App

In 2018, we were one of the private beta testers for the NHS App and will continue to 
support its uptake amongst patients.

8. Personal Health Budgets

Personal health budgets (PHBs) are part of a wider drive to personalise health, 
social care and education set out clearly in the LTP: 

‘Within five years over 2.5 million more people will benefit from “social 
prescribing”, a personal health budget, and new support for managing their 
own health in partnership with patients’ groups and the voluntary sector’.

We are committed to meeting the increased targets for PHBs, as set out for us by 
NHSE. 

We are currently developing plans and a work programme to help us address some 
of the challenges experienced to date and reaching these additional numbers. In line 

Page 84



Page 46 of 58

with the NHSE directive to make PHBs the default position for continuing healthcare 
(CHC) we will have a standard PHB offer for all new and existing CHC cases from 
February 2019. 

Other priority areas we will be focussing on during 2019/20 are Education, Health 
and Care (EHC) plans, wheelchairs, Section 117 aftercare15 and joint packages of 
care that involve a health element.

The programme will bring focus and momentum identifying and engaging with key 
staff leads with local knowledge and experience who will be responsible for having 
ongoing ownership and oversight of PHBs in their work area. Additional training and 
awareness of PHBs for staff that require this will be provided. 

We will be working closely with providers and the wider market to help shape 
additional options for budget holders that will promote greater choice and control. 

Personalised Care
The Black Country STP is a Demonstrator Site for personalised care. 
Wolverhampton CCG is committed to this programme of work which includes:-

 Personalised Care Plans
 Health Coaching
 Social Prescribing
 Peer Support
 Structured Self-Management / Education Sessions
 Patient Choice
 Co-production
 Workforce Development

The work already underway with Care Closer to Home, community neighbourhood 
teams, MDT and integrated working all supports this national and local drive for 
personalised care.

9. Medicines Optimisation

The CCG has a medicines optimisation strategy for 2019-2021 that sets out the 
following aims:

 Ensure opportunity for patients to be involved in ‘shared decision making’ 
about their medicines i.e. a collaborative process through which a clinician 
supports a patient to reach a decision about their treatment;

15See https://www.mind.org.uk/information-support/legal-rights/leaving-hospital/section-117-
aftercare/#.XFxe-Vz7SUk

Page 85



Page 47 of 58

 Evidence based cost effective prescribing;
 Medicines optimisation is considered in all commissioning arrangements;
 Medicines optimisation Quality, Innovation, Productivity, Prevention (QIPP) 

delivery;
 Work with stakeholders to ensure medicines optimisation is part of routine 

practice; and
 All medication is used safely. 

For 2019/20, these aims have been distilled into the following priorities for the CCG 
to maximise value from medicines:

 Reviewing repeat prescription management systems; 
 QIPP delivery;
 Continuing to maximise uptake of biosimilars; 
 Continued implementation of over the counter medicines guidance and the 

drugs of limited clinical value;
 Expanding our current provision for medicines reviews in care homes;
 Continued focus on appropriate prescribing of antibiotics in line with AMR;
 Support and facilitate nutrition reviews.

These objectives align with the medicines optimisation and pharmacy agendas for 
the STP and LTP in that they:

 Promote evidence-based cost-effective prescribing;
 Improve safety;
 Encourage shared decision-making; and
 Continually implement polypharmacy reviews.

10. Quality

We will maintain a strong emphasis on a system-wide approach to quality assurance 
and safety improvement through our quality and safety strategy which will be 
reviewed on the basis of the LTP in 2019/20. Our work focuses on avoiding and 
reducing avoidable harm in health and care and where harm has occurred, ensuring 
timely, transparent reporting and robust processes to ensure local and system-wide 
learning is critical. Learning from local and national incidents and inquiries is key to 
ensuring safer services for our population. 

Contracts with provider organisations provide a basis to drive improvement and we 
have revised our contract schedules for 19/20. Scrutiny of the quality of care is 
undertaken in a consistent way by the CCG and includes a number of quality 

Page 86



Page 48 of 58

assurance arrangements, which are used to collate and triangulate information 
gathered. These include formal meeting arrangements with provider organisations, 
announced and unannounced visits, patient and partner feedback, use of ‘soft 
intelligence’ and working in a collaborative way with regulators, including CQC, 
NHSE and NHSI. We also have an opportunity to share our intelligence at Quality 
Surveillance Group, which is a regional group convened to share best practice and 
escalate any particular system wide issues of concern.

Emerging priorities for 2019/20 are:

 Reviewing mortality rates within 30 days of discharge;
 Reviewing cases of sepsis and patient deterioration;
 Support to care and residential homes from quality nurse advisors;
 Ensuring adherence to national CHC contract;
 Working with schools to assure support and services for CYP with SEND;
 Strengthen the monitoring of Safeguarding Children and Adults arrangements 

in all commissioned services;
 Continue to work closely with providers to strengthen reporting arrangements 

for our Looked After Children to ensure strategic oversight and enable more 
robust challenge, implementing any changes through the contract.

11. Engagement

We recognise that robust engagement processes and procedures will be essential to 
ensuring we meet our operational priorities. We remain committed to engaging with 
local people and communities in a meaningful way that enables us to understand 
their needs and improve their experience of care. 

Over the past 12 months, as part of our Black Country STP, we have worked with 
partners across the health and care system to develop Black Country-wide systems 
and processes. This is enabling us to involve local people in Black Country-wide 
service change, for example around learning disabilities and local maternity services. 
We will build on the collective work we have undertaken with partners so that we 
continue to play our part in delivering integrated care by place and across the Black 
Country. In this way, we will ensure Wolverhampton residents have a role in the 
developing health and care landscape and that their voices are heard.

The development of place-based care through PCNs will be an engagement priority 
for the CCG over the coming year. We will also continue to work with a range of 
patient and community groups including: HealthWatch, Citizen Forum, 
Wolverhampton Voluntary Sector and our Patient Partners. We will draw on a range 
of two-way communications channels and engagement techniques to reach and 
listen to our target groups, including:

Page 87



Page 49 of 58

 Regular stakeholder mapping – to refine our understanding of the 
communities we need to engagement with;

 Outreach activity such as events and roadshows;
 Press and PR including regular content for print and broadcast media, where 

appropriate;
 Social media; 
 Newsletters and other communications collateral; and 
 Surveys and formal consultations

Figure 9: WCCG engagement priorities

12. Risks

The CCG monitors the potential risks to its activities at a strategic level through its 
corporate risk register. Those presently considered are presented in appendix A.  

13. Concluding remarks

At the outset of this document we described the five priorities for WCCG for 2019/20:

Engagement Priorities

COMMUNICATIONS & ENGAGEMENT CHANNELS AND 
PROCESSES

High 
quality, 

safe 
care

Prevention
Sustainability

Partners Members Staff Patients/
public

Black 
country ICS

Primary 
care

Page 88



Page 50 of 58

 continue to commission high quality, safe healthcare services within our 
budget;  

 focus on prevention and early treatment; 
 ensure our services are cost effective and sustainable;  
 Align our clinical priorities, as appropriate, to the Black Country STP/ICS;
 Build on our Primary Care Networks (PCNs), wrapping community, social care 

and mental health services around them. 

This document has described the future national, system and local (place) context 
within which health and care will be delivered to populations. Incumbent within this 
future context is that organisations do not exceed their financial means by working at 
scale where appropriate and sharing risks and rewards. In section 4.2 the steps that 
will be taken to ensure financial sustainability have been highlighted and section 5 
has demonstrated that within this financial settlement we can commission high 
quality, safe services locally that are cost effective and sustainable and align these 
services with partners through the emerging ICA, and also with the priorities set at 
the STP level.

Prevention will be a key feature of many of our commissioning decisions, particularly 
around cancer services, and PCNs will play an important role in acting before 
emergency intervention is required. To this end, this plan has described how primary  
and community care will be more closely integrated, with MDT models tested where 
a number of services will be mobilised to support patients in communities. 

As has been alluded, during this year the building blocks must be secured for closer 
alignment between STP partners in view of transitioning towards an ICS. During 
2019/20, we shall further develop our ambitions for more integrated working across 
Wolverhampton, as well as identifying and implementing opportunities for activity at 
the STP/ICS level. 

Page 89



Page 51 of 58

Appendix A – Wolverhampton CCG Corporate Risks

Relevant Departmental/ 
Programme Risks & Committee 
Risk IDs

Title and Summary

QIPP: Delivery of Targeted GP 
Peer Review Scheme

Failure to meet QIPP Targets
QIPP Delivery is vital to ensuring that the CCG meets its financial 
targets.  A challenging QIPP target of 3.5% has been set equivalent to 
£14m in 2018-19

 Cyber Attacks
Cyber attacks on the IT network infrastructure could potentially lead 
to the loss of confidential data into the public domain if relevant 
security measures are not in place. There is also serious 
clinical/financial and operational risks should there be a major 
failure leaving the organisation unable to function normally. In such 
an instance, Business Continuity Plans would need to be enacted.

Increased Activity at RWT

62 Day Cancer Target 

NHS Constitutional Targets
There is a risk that ongoing pressure in the system will lead to 
Providers missing statutory NHS Constitutional targets with the 
associated impact on patient outcomes

 EPPR Support
There is a risk that effective plans will not be in place for CCG and 
other agencies will not be in place

Executive capacity New Ways of Working across the STP
The STP is complex and works across both providers commissioners 
and local authorities. This requires building new relationships and 
overcoming organisational barriers . Management capacity to fulfil 
new roles will be a risk to the CCG as well as the move to new ways 
of working with partners in a complex system

 BCF Programme Success
The Better Care Fund Programme is an ambitious programme of 
work based on developing much closer integration between NHS and 
Local Authority Social Care services.  There are significant risks 
associated with the programme not meeting its targets both 
financially and for patient outcomes

 New Ways of Working in Primary Care
There are a number of issues with the developing new approach to 
working.  This potentially puts at risk the benefits for patients and 
the prospect of system change

Maternity Capacity & Demand Maternity Services
Following the decision to transfer a number of births from Walsall to 
Royal Wolverhampton Trust there have been consistently high 
midwife to birth ratios and there is a risk that the level of demand 
may affect the safety and sustainability of services

Page 90



Page 52 of 58

Relationship with Local Authority
Capacity of Public Health to 
contribute to strategic change
Relationship with local providers
Complexity of financial modelling

Developing Local Accountable Care Models
The potential complexity of the developing new models locally will 
mean having to balance competing priorities for different 
organisations and against other drivers in the system to clearly 
articulate the rationale for change and the direction of travel.  This 
means that there is a risk that the objectives of improving patient 
care and delivering financial stability across the system will not be 
realised

Workload pressures of STP
Workload pressures - Black 
Country Joint Commissioning 
Committee
Impact of unexpected events on 
overall workload
CSU Capacity

CCG Staff Capacity Challenges
The level of change across the system means that existing staff 
resources are stretched to contribute to change based work streams 
including Black Country Joint Commissioning, STP and local models 
of care in addition to existing responsibilities.  This creates a risk that 
gaps will be created as well as the existing risk of recruiting 
sufficiently skilled staff to fill any vacancies that arise in an uncertain 
environment.

 Governing Body Leadership
The recent changes in the CCG's Governing Body, including changes 
in the Executive Team and the resignation of the chair have created 
a risk that it will become more difficult for the Governing Body to 
provide clear strategic leadership as new individuals familiarise 
themselves with the CCG and the issues it faces.

Primary Care estate 
improvements

Failure to secure appropriate Estates Infrastructure Funding
Much of the plans to improve services, particularly in Primary Care, 
is dependent on securing improvements in the facilities across 
Wolverhampton.  There are a number of possible avenues for 
funding these improvements but there is a risk that the complex 
nature of the funding streams and the profile of the estate itself may 
put delivery of improvements at risk

Over Performance Acute 
Contract
Prescribing Budget
CHC Budget

Failure to Deliver Long Term Financial Strategy
Recurrent Financial pressures across the system may make it difficult 
to deliver the CCG's financial plans for future years

Transforming Care - Financial 
Impact

Transforming Care Partnership
There are a number of risks to the delivery of the Black Country 
Transforming Care Partnership's programme of work that cause 
result in a failure to deliver improvements in the quality of service 
for patients with Learning Disabilities

 Insight Shared Care Record – Governance Arrangements
If robust governance arrangements are not put in place to support 
the implementation of the Insight Shared Care record then it may 
not be possible to deliver the intended benefits of the programme to 
support direct care for patients and improved population health 
planning in order to support overall strategic aims across the health 
economy.

Page 91



Page 53 of 58

Appendix B – Cancer priorities at national, system and place

Achieving World Class 
Cancer Outcomes

Black Country STP 
Clinical Strategy 

Wolverhampton CCG 
and CWC Joint Cancer 
Strategy 2019-2024

Spearhead a radical 
upgrade in prevention and 
public health

Achieving the 62-day 
waiting time standard

Reduce the overall growth in 
the number of all cancer 
cases

Drive a national ambition to 
achieve earlier diagnosis

Implementing early 
diagnosis by 2020

Improve survival of people 
diagnosed with cancer

Establish patient experience 
on par with clinical 
effectiveness and safety

Improving patient 
experience, incl. through the 
national Recovery Package

Improve the quality of life of 
patients after treatment and 
at the end of life

Transform our approach to 
support people living with 
and beyond cancer

Improving patient 
experience, incl. through the 
national Recovery Package

Improve the quality of life of 
patients after treatment and 
at the end of life

Make the necessary 
investments required to 
deliver a modern, high 
quality service

Review options for 
collaboration between 
Walsall cancer unit and 
Wolverhampton cancer 
centre

Ensure commissioning, 
provision and accountability 
processes are fit-for-
purpose

Review options for 
collaboration between 
Walsall cancer unit and 
Wolverhampton cancer 
centre

Page 92



Page 54 of 58

Appendix C – Mental health priorities at national, system and place

Mental Health Forward 
View

Black Country STP 
Clinical Strategy 

Wolverhampton CCG 
Mental Health 
commissioning strategy 
2018-2021

A 7 day NHS – right care, 
right time, right quality

Improved access to 
universal and specialist 
mental health and mental 
wellbeing initiatives

Closing the treatment gap

Building a better future Closing the data quality gap
An integrated mental and 
physical health approach

Improved access to 
integrated health and social 
care

Closing the mortality gap

Creating mentally healthy 
communities

Transformed outcomes, 
experience and reduced 
demand on mental and 
physical health secondary 
and tertiary services

Closing the parity of esteem 
/ funding gap

Promoting good mental 
health and preventing poor 
mental health– helping 
people lead better lives as 
equal citizens/Prevention at 
key moments in life

Increased focus upon 
prevention and early 
intervention at key moments 
in life, including focus on the 
wider determinants of 
mental ill health

Closing the early 
intervention and prevention 
gap

Building a better future Closing the information gap. 
A 7 day NHS – right care, 
right time, right quality

Releasing savings through 
reductions in inappropriate 
out of area placements

Closing the workforce gap.  

Page 93



Page 55 of 58

Appendix D – Learning disabilities and autism priorities at national, 
system and place

Building the Right 
Support

Black Country STP 
Clinical Strategy 

Wolverhampton

Specialist multidisciplinary 
health and social care 
support in the community

The right specialist 
community services will be 
in place

Increased access to 
intensive support services

Where I live and who I live 
with and the right hospital 
services

People with LD and/or 
autism will be seen as 
citizens with rights, who 
should expect to live active 
lives in the community

Supported discharge into 
appropriate community 
placements for citizens with 
forensic needs

Mainstream health services 
and hospital services

Reduced reliance on bed-
based care, reduced A&E 
attendances, less inpatient 
admissions and fewer 
delayed discharges of care 
will release costs

Better use of data to 
improve the quality, safety 
and effectiveness of 
services, and improve both 
citizen experience and 
outcomes.

Support to my family and 
paid staff

People with LD and/or 
autism will be seen as 
citizens with rights, who 
should expect to live active 
lives in the community

Review the requirements for 
the LD workforce and 
increase awareness of LD 
across health and care 
workforce

Mainstream health services 
and specialist 
multidisciplinary health and 
social care support in the 
community

The right specialist 
community services will be 
in place

Embed preventative work as 
part of MDT working

A good and meaningful life Citizens will benefit from 
maintaining links with their 
local support network and 
family.

Increased agency for 
citizens through more 
personalised care

Page 94



Page 56 of 58

Appendix E – Primary and community care priorities at national, 
system and place

General Practice 
Forward View

Black Country STP 
Clinical Strategy 

Wolverhampton CCG 
Primary Health Care 
Strategy 2016-2020

Expansion of workforce 
capacity

Networks supporting local 
populations will allow the 
provision of personal care.

GPs to provide a cradle to 
crave prevention and 
treatment service

Support to strengthen and 
redesign general practice

Rebalancing the investment 
between primary and 
secondary care providers 
makes sense as optimising 
the use of out of hospital 
services averts the current 
waste.

There is continuity in an 
individual’s care

Expansion of workforce 
capacity

Networks supporting local 
populations will allow the 
provision of personal care.

Practices will work as part of 
a Primary Care Network 
providing patients with 
essential services 7 days a 
week

Support to strengthen and 
redesign general practice

Move from disease 
management alone, towards 
prevention, wellbeing and 
self-care, optimising patient 
outcomes. 

Patient are empowered to 
manage their own health

More integration with the 
wider health care system; 
support to strengthen and 
redesign general practice

Networks supporting local 
populations will allow the 
provision of personal care.

Care will be provided by 
integrated community teams 
including social care and the 
voluntary sector

Involving GPs in 
commissioning discussions 
and decision making 
enables new approaches to 
prevention and 
management of ill health for 

Take a population health 
management approach

Page 95



Page 57 of 58

our population.
Increase the level of 
investment in primary care; 
More integration with the 
wider health care system

Rebalancing the investment 
between primary and 
secondary care providers 
makes sense as optimising 
the use of out of hospital 
services averts the current 
waste.

Using innovative tools and 
methods to manage more 
care outside of hospital – 
including technology and 
access to specialists

Invest in better technology Working with STP partners 
to implement a shared 
patient record 

Patients will have a single 
record accessible to all 
appropriate healthcare 
professionals 

Page 96


	Agenda
	3 Minutes of the meeting of the Wolverhampton Clinical Commissioning Group Governing Body held on 12 February 2019
	5 Committee Action Points
	6 Budgets sign off
	7 Wolverhampton Clinical Commissioning Group Operating Plan sign off
	Agenda item 7 - Black Country and West Birmingham STP 1920 Summary Narrative Submission
	Agenda item 7 - WCCG Operational Plan 201920 V1


